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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements and information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may constitute forward-

looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 The words

believe expect anticipate plan intend foresee should would could or other similar

expressions are intended to identify foward -looking statements which are generally not historic in nature

These forward-looking statements are based on the current expectations and beliefs of Comfort Systems

USA Inc and its subsidiaries collectively the Company concerning future developments and thefr effect

on the Company While the Companys management believes that these forward-looking statements are

reasonable as and when made there can be no assurance that future developments affecting the Company

will be those that it anticipates All comments concerning the Company expectations for future revenues

and operating results are based on the Companys forecasts for its existing operations and do not include the

potential impact of any future acquisitions The Companys forward-looking statements involve significant

risks and uncertainties some of which are beyond the Companys control and assumptions that could

cause actual future results to differ materially from the Companys historical experience and its present

expectations or projections Known material factors that could cause the Company actual results to differ

from those in the forward-looking statements are those described in Part Item 1A Risk Factors

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements which speak only as of the

date hereof The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking

statements after the date they are made whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

PART

The terms Comfort Systems we us or the Company refer to Comfort Systems USA Inc

or Comfort Systems USA Inc and its consolidated subsidiaries as appropriate in the context

ITEM Business

Comfort Systems USA Inc Delaware corporation was established in 1997 We provide

comprehensive heating ventilation and air conditioning HVAC installation maintenance repair

and replacement services within the mechanical services industry We have 38 operating units in 72

cities and 86 locations throughout the United States

We operate primarily in the commercial industrial and institutional HVAC markets and perform

most of our services within office buildings retail centers apartment complexes manufacturing plants

and healthcare education and government facilities In addition to standard HVAC services we provide

specialized applications such as building automation control systems fire protection process cooling

electronic monitoring and process piping Certain locations also perform related activities such as

electrical service and plumbing Approximately 99% of our consolidated 2011 revenues were derived

from commercial industrial and institutional customers and large multi-family residential projects

Approximately 43% of our revenues were attributable to installation services in newly constructed

facilities and 57% were attributable to maintenance repair and replacement services Our consolidated

2011 revenues were derived from the following service activities all of which are in the mechanical

services industry the single industry segment we serve

Percentage of

Service Activity
Revenue

HVAC 74%

Plumbing 16%

Building Automation Control Systems 4%

Other 6%

Total 100%



Our Internet address is http//wwwcomfortsystemsusa.COm We make available free of charge on or

through our website our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports

on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of

the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or

furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission Our website also includes our code of ethics

titled Corporate Compliance Policy Standards and Procedures Regarding Business Practices together

with other governance materials including our corporate governance guidelines and our Board

committee charters Printed versions of our code of ethics and our corporate governance guidelines

may be obtained upon written request to our Corporate Compliance Officer at our headquarters

address

Industry Overview

We believe that the commercial industrial and institutional HVAC industry has historically

generated annual revenues in excess of $40 billion HVAC systems are necessary to virtually all

commercial industrial and institutional buildings as well as homes Because most buildings are sealed

HVAC systems provide the primary method of circulating fresh air in such buildings In many instances

replacing an aging system with modern energy-efficient HVAC system significantly reduces

buildings operating costs and improves air quality and HVAC system effectiveness Older commercial

industrial and institutional facilities often have poor air quality as well as inadequate air conditioning

and older HVAC systems result in significantly higher energy costs than do modern systems These

factors cause many facility owners to consider replacing older systems
before the end of their

functioning lives

Many factors positively affect HVAC industry growth particularly population growth which has

increased the need for commercial industrial and institutional space ii an aging installed base of

buildings and HVAC environmental and energy efficiency equipment iii increasing sophistication

complexity and efficiency of HVAC systems iv growing emphasis on environmental and energy

efficiency and reduction or elimination of the refrigerants commonly used in older HVAC systems

We believe these factors should increase demand for the reconfiguration or replacement of existing

HVAC systems and may also mitigate tp some extent the effect on the HVAC industry of the

cyclicality inherent in the traditional construction industry

The HVAC industry can be broadly divided into two service functions

installation in newly constructed facilities which provided approximately 43% of our revenues in

2011 and

maintenance repair and replacement in existing facilities which provided the remaining 57% of

our 2011 revenues

Installation ServicesInstallation services consist of design and build and plan and spec

projects In design and build projects the commercial HVAC company is responsible for designing

engineering and installing cost-effective energy-efficient system customized to the specific needs of

the building owner Costs and other project terms are normally negotiated between the building owner

or its representative and the HVAC company Companies that specialize in design and build projects

generally have specially trained HVAC engineers CAD/CAM design systems and in-house sheet metal

and prefabrication capabilities These companies use consultative approach with customers and tend

to develop long-term relationships with building owners and developers general contractors architects

consulting engineers and property managers Plan and spec installation refers to projects in which

third-party architect or consulting engineer designs the HVAC systems and the installation project is

put out for bid We believe that plan and spec projects usually take longer to complete than

design and build projects because the system design and installation process generally are not

integrated thus resulting in more frequent adjustments to the technical specifications of the project and



corresponding changes in work requirements and schedules These adjustments can occur during the

bid
process or during the project itself in either case adding weeks or months to the project schedule

Furthermore in plan and spec projects the HVAC company is not responsible for project design and

other parties must also approve any changes thereby increasing overall project time and cost

Maintenance Repair and Replacement ServicesThese services include maintaining repairing

replacing reconfiguring and monitoring previously installed HVAC systems and building automation

controls The growth and aging of the installed base of HVAC systems and the demand for more
efficient and sophisticated systems and building automation controls have fueled growth in this service

line The increasing complexity of these HVAC systems is leading many commercial industrial and

institutional building owners and property managers to increase attention to maintenance and to

outsource maintenance and repair often through service agreements with HVAC service providers In

addition further restrictions have been placed on the use of certain
types of refrigerants used in HVAC

systems which along with indoor air
quality concerns may increase demand for the reconfiguration

and replacement of existing HVAC systems State-of-the-art control and monitoring systems feature

electronic sensors and microprocessors These systems require specialized training to install maintain

and repair and the typical building engineer employed directly by building owner or manager has not

received this training Increasingly HVAC systems in commercial industrial and institutional buildings

are being remotely monitored through computer-based communications systems to improve energy

efficiency and expedite problem diagnosis and correction thereby allowing us to provide maintenance

and repair services at lower cost

Strategy

We focus on strengthening operating competencies and on increasing profit margins The key
elements of our operating strategy are

Achieve Excellence in Core CompetenciesWe have identified six core competencies that we believe

are critical to attracting and retaining customers increasing operating income and cash flow and

creating additional employment opportunities The six core competencies are customer cultivation

and rapport ii design and build expertise iii estimating iv job costing and job measurements
safety and vi service capability

Achieve Operating EfficienciesWe think we can achieve operating efficiencies and cost savings

through purchasing economies adopting best practices operating programs and focusing on job

management to deliver services in cost-effective and efficient manner We have placed great emphasis
on improving the job loop at our locationsqualifying estimating pricing and executing projects

effectively and efficiently then promptly assessing project experience for applicability to current and

future projects We also use our combined purchasing to gain volume discounts on products and

services such as HVAC components raw materials services vehicles bonding insurance and employee
benefits

Attract Retain and Invest in our EmployeesWe seek to attract and retain quality employees by

providing them an enhanced career path from working for larger company the opportunity to realize

more stable income and attractive benefits packages Over the past few years we have made
substantial investments in training including programs for project managers field superintendents

service managers sales managers estimators and more recently leadership and development of key

managers and leaders We believe these programs can lead to significantly increased efficiency and

growth

Focus on Commercia4 Industrial and Institutional MarketsWe primarily focus on the commercial
industrial and institutional markets with particular emphasis on design and build installation services

and on maintenance repair and replacement services We believe that the commercial industrial and



institutional HVAC markets are attractive because of their growth opportunities large and diverse

customer base reduced weather exposure as compared to residential markets attractive margins and

potential for long-term relationships with building owners property managers general contractors and

architects We believe that although the end-use is ultimately residential large multi-family projects

have many of the same characteristics as commercial construction and we participate in this market

when conditions are favorable Approximately 99% of our consolidated 2011 revenues were derived

from commercial industrial and institutional customers and large multi-family residential projects

Leveraging Resources and CapabilitiesWe believe significant operating
efficiencies can be achieved

by leveraging resources among our operating locations For example we have shifted certain

prefabrication activities into centralized locations thereby increasing asset utilization in these centralized

locations and redirecting prefabrication employees into other operational areas We also allocate our

engineering field and supervisory labor from one operation to another to more fully use our employee

base meet our customers needs and share expertise We believe we have realized scale benefits from

combining purchasing insurance benefits bonding and financing activities across our operations We

also believe larger regional and national commercial industrial and institutional entities can benefit

from consolidating their HVAC needs with service companies that are capable of providing those

services regionally or nationally In response to this opportunity we operate national call center to

dispatch technicians to regional and national sites requiring service and use web-based proprietary

information systems to maintain information on the customers sites and equipment

Maintain Diverse Custome Geographic and Project BaseWe have what we believe is

well-diversified distribution of revenues across end-use sectors that reduces our exposure to negative

developments in any given sector We also believe we have reasdnable degree of geographical

diversification again reducing our exposure to negative developments in any given region Our

distribution of revenues in 2011 by end-use sector was as follows

Education 19%

Healthcare 17%

Government 17%

Manufacturing
15%

Office Buildings
11%

Retail/Restaurants
7%

Multi-Family
3%

Lodging and Entertainment 2%

Distribution 2%

Religious/Not for profit
1%

Residential 1%

Other __%
Total

Approximately 83% of our revenues are earned on project basis for installation of HVAC

systems in newly constructed facilities or for replacement of HVAC systems in existing facilities As of

December 31 2011 we had 4425 projects in process with an aggregate contract value of approximately

$1858.6 million Our average project takes six to nine months to complete with an average contract

price of approximately $420000 This relatively small average project size when taken together with the

approximately 17% of our revenues derived from maintenance and service provides us with what we



believe is broad base of work for company involved in the construction services sector

stratification of projects in progress as of December 31 2011 by contract price is as follows

Aggregate

Contract

No of Price Value

Contract Price of Project Projects millions

Under $1 million 4171 608.8

$1 million $5 million 230 808.7

$5 million $10 million 104.9

$10 million $15 million 42.6

Greater than $15 million 12 293.6

Total 4425 $1858.6

Seek Growth Through Expansion and AcquisitionsWe believe that we can increase our operating

income by opportunistically entering new markets or service lines through expansion and acquisition

We have based such expansion on existing customers relationships or expertise and
expect to

selectively pursue such opportunities in the future We continually seek opportunities to acquire

businesses that have attractive valuations and meet other criteria involving financial operational

management and geographic considerations

We are investing in initiatives to expand the proportion of our revenues that are service based We
are actively concentrating our existing managerial resources on training and hiring experienced

employees to procure and profitably perform service work In some locations we have added service

capability and we believe our investments and efforts will stimulate growth in all aspects of the

commercial HVAC and service and repair business

Operations and Services Provided

We provide wide range of installation maintenance repair and replacement services for HVAC
and related systems in commercial industrial and institutional properties We manage our locations on

decentralized basis with local management maintaining responsibility for day-to-day operating

decisions Our local management is augmented by regional leadership that focuses on core business

competencies regional financial performance cooperation and coordination between locations

implementing best practices and on major corporate initiatives In addition to senior management local

personnel generally include design engineers sales personnel customer service personnel installation

and service technicians sheet metal and prefabrication technicians estimators and administrative

personnel We have centralized certain administrative functions such as insurance employee benefits

training safety programs marketing and cash management to enable our local operating management
to focus on pursuing new business opportunities and improving operating efficiencies We also combine

certain back office and administrative functions at various locations

Installation ServicesOur installation business related to newly constructed facilities which

comprised approximately 43% of our consolidated 2011 revenues involves the design engineering

integration installation and start-up of HVAC building automation controls and related systems We
provide design and build and plan and spec installation services for office buildings retail centers

apartment complexes manufacturing plants healthcare education and government facilities and other

commercial industrial and institutional facilities In design and build installation working with the

customer we determine the needed capacity and energy efficiency of the HVAC system that best suits

the proposed facility We then estimate the amount of time labor materials and equipment needed to

build the specified system The final design terms price and timing of the project are then negotiated

with the customer or its representatives after which any necessary modifications are made to the

system plan In plan and spec installation we participate in bid process to provide labor

equipment materials and installation based on plans and engineering specifications provided by

customer general contractor or consulting engineer



Once an agreement has been reached we order the necessary materials and equipment for delivery

to meet the project schedule In many instances we fabricate the ductwork and piping and assemble

certain components for the system based on the mechanical drawing specifications eliminating the need

to subcontract ductwork or piping fabrication Then we install the system at the project site working

closely with the general contractor Our average project takes six to nine months to complete with an

average contract price of approximately $420000 We also perform larger project work with 254

contracts in
progress at December 31 2011 with contract prices in excess of $1 million Our largest

project currently in
progress

has contract price of $49.3 million Project contracts typically provide for

periodic billings to the customer as we meet progress
milestones or incur cost on the project Project

contracts in our industry also frequently allow for small portion of
progress billings or contract price

to be withheld by the customer until after we have completed the work typically for six months

Amounts withheld under this practice are known as retention or retainage

We also install process cooling systems and building automation controls and monitoring systems

Process cooling systems are used primarily in industrial facilities to provide heating and/or cooling to

precise temperature and climate standards for products being manufactured and for the manufacturing

equipment Building automation control systems are used in HVAC and process cooling systems to

maintain pre-established temperature or climate standards for commercial or industrial facilities

Building automation control systems are capable not only of controlling facilitys entire HVAC

system often on room-by-room basis but can also be programmed to integrate energy management
and monitoring for purposes of security fire card key access lighting and other building systems This

monitoring can be performed on-site or remotely through computer-based communications system

The monitoring system communicates an exception when system is operating outside pre-established

parameters Diagnosis of potential problems and remedial adjustments can often be performed

remotely from system monitoring terminals

Maintenance Repair and Replacement ServicesOur maintenance repair and repiacement services

comprised approximately 57% of our consolidated 2011 revenues and include the maintenance repair

replacement reconfiguration and monitoring of HVAC systems and industrial process piping

Approximately 70% of our maintenance repair and replacement revenues were derived from replacing

and reconfiguring existing HVAC systems for commercial industrial and institutional customers

Replacement and reconfiguration are usually performed on project basis and often use consultative

expertise similar to that provided in the design and build installation market

Maintenance and repair services are provided either in response to service calls or under service

agreement Service calls are coordinated by customer service representatives or dispatchers that use

computer and communication technology to process orders arrange service calls communicate with

customers dispatch technicians and invoice customers Service technicians work from service vehicles

equipped with commonly used parts supplies and tools to complete variety of jobs Commercial

industrial and institutional service agreements usually have terms of one to three years with automatic

annual renewals and typically with thirty- to sixty-day cancellation notice periods We also provide

remote monitoring of temperature pressure humidity and air flow for HVAC systems If the system is

not operating within the specifications set forth by the customer and cannot be remotely adjusted

service crew is dispatched to analyze and repair the system

Sources of Supply

The raw materials and components we use include HVAC system components ductwork steel

sheet metal and copper tubing and piping These raw materials and components are generally available

from variety of domestic or foreign suppliers at competitive prices Delivery times are typically short

for most raw materials and standard components but during periods of peak demand may extend to

one month or more Over the last several years many steel iron and copper products in particular

have experienced significant price fluctuation and some constrained availability We estimate that direct



purchase of commodities and finished products comprises between 10% and 15% of our average

project cost We have procedures to reduce commodity cost exposure early buying of commodities for

particular projects or for general inventory as well as including escalation and escape provisions in

project bids and contracts wherever possible The negative effects of unrecovered commodity cost

inflation in our project results have been modest and are reviewed further in Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations later in this report

Chillers for large units typically have the longest delivery time and generally have lead times of up
to six months The major components of commercial HVAC systems are compressors and chillers that

are manufactured primarily by Carrier Lennox McQuay Trane and York The major suppliers of

building automation control systems are Honeywell Johnson Controls Siemens York Automated

Logic Novar and Andover Control Corporation We do not have any significant contracts guaranteeing

us supply of raw materials or components

We administer portion of our procurement activities with Emeor Group larger publicly-held

provider of electrical and mechanical services and facilities management This coordination includes

contractual arrangements with Emcor under which certain Emcor employees provide procurement

management services to us

Cyclicality and Seasonality

Historically the construction industry has been highly cyclical As result our volume of business

may generally be adversely affected by declines in new installation and replacement projects in various

geographic regions of the United States during periods of economic weakness

The HVAC industry is subject to seasonal variations Specifically the demand for new installation

and replacement is generally lower during the winter months the first quarter of the year due to

reduced construction activity during inclement weather and less use of air conditioning during the

colder months Demand for HVAC services is generally higher in the second and third calendar

quarters due to increased construction activity and increased use of air conditioning during the warmer

months Accordingly we expect our revenues and operating results generally will be lower in the first

and fourth calendar quarters

Sales and Marketing

We have diverse customer base with no single customer accounting for more than 2% of

consolidated 2011 revenues Management and dedicated sales force are responsible for developing

and maintaining successful long-term relationships with key customers Customers generally include

building owners and developers and property managers as well as general contractors architects and

consulting engineers We intend to continue our emphasis on developing and maintaining long-term

relationships with our customers by providing superior high-quality service in professional manner

We believe we can continue to leverage the diverse technical and marketing strengths at individual

locations to expand the services offered in other local markets With respect to multi-location service

opportunities we maintain national sales force in our national accounts group

Employees

As of December 31 2011 we had 7061 employees We have collective bargaining agreements

covering seven employees We have not experienced and do not expect any significant strikes or work

stoppages and believe our relations with employees covered by collective bargaining agreements are

good



Recruiting fraining and Safety

Our continued success depends in part on our ability to continue to attract retain and motivate

qualified engineers service technicians field supervisors and project managers We believe our success

in retaining qualified employees will be based on the quality of our recruiting training compensation

employee benefits programs and opportunities for advancement We provide on-the-job training

technical training apprenticeship programs attractive benefit packages and career advancement

opportunities within our company

We have established comprehensive safety programs throughout our operations to ensure that all

technicians comply with safety standards we have established and that are established under federal

state and local laws and regulations Additionally we have implemented best practices safety

program throughout our operations which provides employees with incentives to improve safety

performance and decrease workplace accidents Regional safety directors establish safety programs and

benchmarking to improve safety within their region Finally our employment screening process
seeks to

determine that prospective employees have requisite skills sufficient background references and

acceptable driving records if applicable Our rate of incidents recordable under the standards of the

Occupational Safety and Health Administration OSHA per one hundred employees per year also

known as the 051-IA recordable rate was 3.15 during 2011 This level was 27% better than the most

recently published OSHA rate for our industry

Insurance and Litigation

The primary insured risks in our operations are bodily injury property damage and workers

compensation injuries We retain the risk for workers compensation employers liability auto liability

general liability and employee group health claims resulting from uninsured deductibles per incident or

occurrence Because we have very large deductibles the vast majority of our claims are paid by us so

as practical matter we self-insure the great majority of these risks Losses up to such per-incident

deductible amounts are estimated and accrued based upon known facts historical trends and industry

averages using the assistance of an actuary to project the extent of these obligations

We are subject to certain claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course of business We maintain

various insurance coverages to minimize financial risk associated with these claims We have estimated

and provided accruals for probable losses and related legal fees associated with certain litigation in our

consolidated financial statements While we cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings in our

opinion and based on reports
of counsel any liability arising from these matters individually and in the

aggregate will not have material effect on our operating results or financial condition after giving

effect to provisions already recorded

In addition to the matters described above we had accrued $6.5 million as of December 31 2010

for potential and asserted backcharges from several customers of our large multi-family operation based

in Texas During the third quarter
of 2011 the Company reached an agreement related to certain

backcharges and this resulted in payment of $4.8 million and recovery of $0.2 million The

additions and reductions to the accrual were included in Cost of Services



The following table summarizes the backcharge activity for the years ended December 31 2011
2010 and 2009 in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year 6489 $6489 5838
Additions 600 2350
Cash payments net of recovery 4593 650
Non-cash reduction 2496 1049

Balance at end of year $6489 6489

We typically warrant labor for the first year after installation on new HVAC systems and pass

through to the customer manufacturers warranties on equipment We generally warrant labor for thirty

days after servicing existing HVAC systems We do not expect warranty claims to have material

adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations

Competition

The HVAC industry is highly competitive and consists of thousands of local and regional

companies We believe that purchasing decisions in the commercial industrial and institutional markets

are based on competitive price ii long-term customer relationships iii quality timeliness and

reliability of services provided iv an organizations perceived stability based on years
in business

financial strength and access to bonding range of services provided and vi scale of operation To

improve our competitive position we focus on both the consultative design and build installation

market and the maintenance repair and replacement market to promote first the development and

then the strengthening of long-term customer relationships In addition we believe our ability to

provide multi-location coverage access to project financing and specialized technical skills for facilities

owners gives us strategic advantage over smaller competitors who may be unable to provide these

services to customers at competitive price

We believe that we are larger than most of our competitors which are generally small owner-

operated companies that typically operate in limited geographic area However there are divisions of

larger contracting companies utilities and HVAC equipment manufacturers that provide HVAC services

in some of the same service lines and geographic areas we serve Some of these competitors and

potential competitors have greater financial resources than we do to finance development opportunities

and support their operations We believe our smaller competitors generally compete with us based on

price and their long-term relationships with local customers Our larger competitors compete with us on

those factors but may also provide attractive financing and comprehensive service and product

packages

Vehicles

We operate fleet of various owned or leased service trucks vans and support vehicles We believe

these vehicles generally are well maintained and sufficient for our current operations

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to various federal state and local laws and regulations including

licensing requirements applicable to engineering construction and service technicians ii building

and HVAC codes and zoning ordinances iii regulations relating to consumer protection including

those governing residential service agreements and iv regulations relating to worker safety and

protection of the environment We believe we have all required licenses to conduct our operations and

10



are in substantial compliance with applicable regulatory requirements If we fail to comply with

applicable regulations we could be subject to substantial fines or revocation of our operating licenses

Many state and local regulations governing the HVAC services trades require individuals to hold

permits and licenses In some cases required permit or license held by single individual may be

sufficient to authorize specified activities for all of our service technicians who work in the state or

county that issued the permit or license We seek to ensure that where possible we have two

employees who hold any such permits or licenses that may be material to our operations in particular

geographic region

Our operations are subject to the federal Clean Air Act as amended which governs air emissions

and imposes specific requirements on the use and handling of chlorofluorocarbons or CFCs and

certain other refrigerants Clean Air Act regulations require the certification of service technicians

involved in the service or repair of equipment containing these refrigerants and also regulate the

containment and recycling of these refrigerants These requirements have increased our training

expenses and expenditures for containment and recycling equipment The Clean Air Act is intended

ultimately to eliminate the use of CFCs in the United States and to require alternative refrigerants to

be used in replacement HVAC systems We do not believe these regulations involving CFCs will

materially affect our business on the whole because although they require us to incur modest ongoing

training costs our competitors also incur such costs and the regulations may encourage our customers

to update their HVAC systems

Executive Officers

We have four executive officers

Brian Lane age 54 has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President since December 2011

and as director since 2010 Mr Lane served as our President and Chief Operating Officer from

March 2010 until December 2011 Mr Lane joined the Company in October 2003 and served as Vice

President and then Senior Vice President for Region One of the Company until he was named

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in January 2009 Prior to joining the Company
Mr Lane spent fifteen

years
at Halliburton global provider of products and services to energy

industrial and government customers including employment by Brown and Root an engineering and

construction company During his tenure he held various positions in business development strategy

and project activities including the position of Regional Director of Europe and Africa Additionally

he held the position of Vice President at Kvaerner an international engineering and construction

company

William Geoige age 47 has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

since May 2005 was our Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary from May 1998 to May

2005 and was our Vice President General Counsel and Secretary from March 1997 to April 1998

From October 1995 to February 1997 Mr George was Vice President and General Counsel of

American Medical Response Inc publicly-traded healthcare transportation company From

September 1992 to September 1995 Mr George practiced corporate and antitrust law at Ropes

Gray Boston Massachusetts law firm

Julie Shaeff age 46 has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since

May 2005 was our Vice President and Corporate Controller from March 2002 to May 2005 and was

our Assistant Corporate Controller from September 1999 to February 2002 From 1996 to August 1999

Ms Shaeff was Financial Accounting ManagerCorporate Controllers Group for Browning-Ferris

Industries Inc publicly-traded waste services company From 1987 to 1995 she held various

positions with Arthur Andersen LLE Ms Shaeff is Certified Public Accountant
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Trent McKenna age 39 has served as our Vice President General Counsel and Secretary since

May 2005 and was our Associate General Counsel from August 2004 to May 2005 From February 1999

to August 2004 Mr McKenna was practicing attorney in the area of complex commercial litigation in

the Houston Texas office of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer Feld LLF an international law firm

ITEM 1A Company Risk Factors

Our business is subject to variety of risks You should carefully consider the risks described below

together with all the information included in this report Our business financial condition and results

of operations could be adversely affected by the occurrence of any of these events which could cause

actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results and the trading price of our

common stock could decline

Because we bear the risk of cost overruns in most of our contracts we may experience reduced profits oi in

some cases losses under these contracts if costs increase above our estimates

Our contract prices are established largely upon estimates and assumptions of our projected costs

including assumptions about future economic conditions prices including commodities prices

availability of labor including the costs of providing labor equipment and materials and other factors

outside our control If our estimates or assumptions prove to be inaccurate if circumstances change in

way that renders our assumptions and estimates inaccurate or we fail to successfully execute the

work cost overruns may occur and we could experience reduced profits or loss for affected projects

For instance unanticipated technical problems may arise we could have difficulty obtaining permits or

approvals local laws labor costs or labor conditions could change bad weather could delay

construction raw materials prices could increase our suppliers or subcontractors may fail to perform

as expected or site conditions may be different than we expected We are also exposed to increases in

energy prices particularly as they relate to gasoline prices Additionally in certain circumstances we

guarantee project completion or the achievement of certain acceptance and performance testing levels

by scheduled date Failure to meet schedule or performance requirements typically results in

additional costs to us and in some cases we may also create liability for consequential and liquidated

damages Performance problems for existing and future projects could cause our actual results of

operations to differ materially from those we anticipate and could damage our reputation within our

industry and our customer base

Many of the markets we do work in are currently experiencing or have recently experienced an economic

downturn that may materially and adversely affect our business because our business is dependent on levels of

construction activity

The demand for our services is dependent upon the existence of construction projects and service

requirements within the markets in which we operate Any period of economic recession affecting

market or industry in which we transact business is likely to adversely impact our business Many of the

projects we work on have long lifecycles from conception to completion and the bulk of our

performance generally occurs late in construction projects lifecycle We experience the results of

economic trends well after an economic cycle begins and therefore will continue to experience the

results of an economic recession well after conditions in the general economy have improved Further

some of the local or regional markets we do work in have yet to enter period of sustained recovery

We cannot predict the severity or lasting effects of the recent recession particularly in some local

or regional markets that have not yet
entered period of sustained recovery We believe that the

current uncertainty about economic conditions caused by the recent recession means that many of our

customers are likely to continue to postpone spending while credit markets remain disinclined to fund

commercial and industrial developments The industries and markets we operate in have always been

and will continue to be vulnerable to these general macroeconomic downturns because they are cyclical
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in nature The recent recession caused drop off in the demand for projects within our markets and

industries in some regions and continues to cause similar drop off in other regions The drop off in

demand has led to and will likely continue to lead to greater price competition as well as decreased

revenue and profit The lasting effects of the recent recession have increased economic instability with

our vendors subcontractors developers and general contractors which has caused us greater liability

exposure and has resulted in us not being paid on some projects as well as decreasing our revenue and

profit Further to the extent more of our vendors subcontractors developers or general contractors

seek bankruptcy protection the bankruptcy will likely force us to incur additional costs in attorneys

fees as well as other professional consultants and will result in decreased revenue and profit

The percentage of our profits and revenues attributable to projects performed directly or indirectly

for federal state and local government entities has increased during and as result of the recent

economic downturn in part
because the private-sector decreased its investment in construction and

building projects decrease in federal state or local government spending in our industries and

markets could result in decreased revenue and profit

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations which means that amounts included in

our backlog may not result in actual revenue or translate into profits

The revenue projected from our backlog may not be realized or if realized may not result in

profits Projects may remain in our backlog for an extended period of time or project cancellations or

scope adjustments may occur with respect to contracts reflected in our backlog The revenue projected

from our backlog may not be realized or if realized may not result in profits

significant portion of our business depends on our ability to provide surety bonds Any difficulties in the

financial and surety markets may adversely affect our bonding capacity and availability

In the past we have expanded and it is possible we will continue to expand the number of total

contract dollars that require an underlying bond Historically surety market conditions have experienced

times of difficulty as result of significant losses incurred by many surety companies and the results of

macroeconomic trends outside of our control Consequently during times when less overall bonding

capacity is available in the market surety terms have become more expensive and more restrictive As

such we cannot guarantee our ability to maintain sufficient level of bonding capacity in the future

which could preclude our ability to bid for certain contracts or successfully contract with some

customers Additionally even if we continue to be able to access bonding capacity to sufficiently bond

future work we may be required to post collateral to secure bonds which would decrease the liquidity

we would have available for other purposes Our surety providers are under no commitment to

guarantee our access to new bonds in the future thus our ability to access or increase bonding capacity

is at the sole discretion of our surety providers If our surety companies were to limit or eliminate our

access to bonds our alternatives would include seeking bonding capacity from other surety companies

increasing business with clients that do not require bonds and posting other forms of collateral for

project performance such as letters of credit or cash We may be unable to secure these alternatives in

timely manner on acceptable terms or at all As such if we were to experience an interruption or

reduction in the availability of bonding capacity it is likely we would be unable to compete for or work

on certain projects

Goodwill impairment charges negatively impacted our earnings in 2010 in 2011 and in previous years

Earnings for future periods may be impacted by additional charges for goodwill and intangible assets

We carry significant amount of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets on our consolidated

balance sheets Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired

businesses We assess goodwill for impairment each year and more frequently if circumstances suggest

an impairment may have occurred The recent recession along with other factors caused the fair value
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of some of our assets to be lower than their carrying value resulting in an impairment to goodwill We

may determine at future date that an additional significant impairment has occurred in the value of

our unamortized intangible assets or fixed assets which could require us to write off an additional

portion of our assets and could adversely affect our financial condition or our reported results of

operations

Our use of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting could result in reduction or reversal of

previously recorded revenues or profits

material portion of our revenue is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of

accounting which results in our recognizing contract revenue and earnings ratably over the contract

term in the proportion that our actual costs bear to our estimated contract costs The earnings or losses

recognized on individual contracts are based on estimates of contract revenue costs and profitability

We review our estimates of contract revenue costs and profitability on an ongoing basis Prior to

contract completion we may adjust our estimates on one or more occasions as result of change

orders to the original contract collection disputes with the customer on amounts invoiced or claims

against the customer for increased costs incurred by us due to customer-induced delays and other

factors Contract losses are recognized in the fiscal period when the loss is determined Contract profit

estimates are also adjusted in the fiscal period in which it is determined that an adjustment is required

As result of the requirements of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting the possibility

exists for example that we could have estimated and reported profit on contract over several

periods and later determined usually near contract completion that all or portion of such previously

estimated and reported profits were overstated If this occurs the full aggregate amount of the

overstatement will be reported for the period in which such determination is made thereby eliminating

all or portion of any profits from other contracts that would have otherwise been reported in such

period or even resulting in loss being reported for such period On historical basis we believe that

we have made reasonably reliable estimates of the
progress towards completion on our long-term

contracts However given the uncertainties associated with these types of contracts it is possible for

actual costs to vary from estimates previously made which may result in reductions or reversals of

previously recorded revenue and profits

Intense competition in our industiy could reduce our market share and our profit

The markets we serve are highly competitive Our industry is characterized by many small

companies whose activities are geographically concentrated We compete on the basis of our technical

expertise and experience financial and operational resources nationwide presence industry reputation

and dependability While we believe our customers consider number of these factors in awarding

available contracts large portion of our work is awarded through bid process Consequently price

is often the principal factor in determining which contractor is selected especially on smaller less

complex projects Smaller competitors are sometimes able to win bids for these projects based on price

alone due to their lower cost and financial return requirements We expect competition to intensify in

our industry presenting us with significant challenges in our ability to maintain strong growth rates and

acceptable profit margins We also expect increased competition from in-house service providers

because some of our customers have employees who perform service work similar to the services we

provide Vertical consolidation is also expected to intensify competition in our industry If we are

unable to meet these competitive challenges we will lose market share to our competitors and

experience an overall reduction in our profits In addition our profitability would be impaired if we
have to reduce our prices to remain competitive
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We are decentralized company and place significant decision making powers with our subsidiaries

management which presents certain risks

We believe that our practice of placing significant decision making powers with local management

is important to our successful growth and allows us to be responsive to opportunities and to our

customers needs However this practice presents certain risks including the risk that we may be slower

or less effective in our attempts to identify or react to problems affecting an important business than

we would under more centralized structure or that we would be slower to identify misalignment

between subsidiarys and the Companys overall business strategy Further if subsidiary location

fails to follow the Companys compliance policies we could be made party to contract arrangement

or situation that requires the assumption of large liabilities or has less advantageous terms than is

typically found in the market

We have subsidiary operations through the United States and are exposed to multiple state and local

regulations as well as federal laws and requirements applicable to government contractors Changes in law

regulations or requirements or material failure of any of our subsidiaries or us to comply with any of

them could increase our costs and have other negative impacts on our business

Our 86 locations are located in 29 states which exposes us to variety of different state and local

laws and regulations particularly those pertaining to contractor licensing requirements These laws and

regulations govern many aspects
of our business and there are often different standards and

requirements in different locations In addition our subsidiaries that perform work for federal

government entities are subject to additional federal laws and regulatory and contractual requirements

Changes in any of these laws or our or any of our subsidiaries material failure to comply with them

can adversely impact our operations by among other things increasing costs distracting managements

time and attention from other items and harming our reputation

As government contractors our subsidiaries are subject to number of rules and regulations and their

contracts with government entities are subject to audit Violations of the applicable rules and regulations could

result in subsidiary being barred from future government contracts

Government contractors must comply with many regulations and other requirements that relate to

the award administration and performance of government contracts violation of these laws and

regulations could result in imposition of fines and penalties the termination of government contract

or debarment from bidding on government contracts in the future Prohibition against bidding on

future government contracts could have an adverse affect on our financial condition and results of

operations

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified managers and employees we will be unable to operate

efficiently which could reduce our profitability

Our business is labor intensive and many of our operations experience high rate of employment

turnover At times of low unemployment rates in the United States it will be more difficult for us to

find qualified personnel at low cost in some geographic areas where we operate Additionally our

business is managed by small number of key executive and operational officers We may be unable to

hire and retain the sufficient skilled labor force necessary to operate efficiently and to support our

growth strategy Our labor expenses may increase as result of shortage in the supply of skilled

personnel Labor shortages increased labor costs or the loss of key personnel could reduce our

profitability and negatively impact our business
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Past and future environmental safety and health regulations could impose significant additional costs on us

that reduce our profits

HVAC systems are subject to various environmental statutes and regulations including the Clean

Air Act and those regulating the production servicing and disposal of certain ozone-depleting

refrigerants used in HVAC systems There can be no assurance that the regulatory environment in

which we operate will not change significantly in the future Various local state and federal laws and

regulations impose licensing standards on technicians who install and service HVAC systems And

additional laws regulations and standards apply to contractors who perform work that is being funded

by public money particularly federal public funding Our failure to comply with these laws and

regulations could subject us to substantial fines the loss of our licenses or potentially debarment from

future publicly funded work It is impossible to predict the full nature and effect of judicial legislative

or regulatory developments relating to health and safety regulations and environmental protection

regulations applicable to our operations

Our insurance policies against many potential liabilities require high deductibles and our risk management

policies and procedures may leave us exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risks Additionally difficulties

in the insurance markets may adversely affect our ability to obtain necessary insurance

Although we maintain insurance policies with respect to our related exposures these policies are

subject to high deductibles as such we are in effect self-insured for substantially all of our typical

claims We hire an actuary to determine any liabilities for unpaid claims and associated expenses for

the three major lines of coverage workers compensation general liability and auto liability The

determination of these claims and expenses and the appropriateness of the estimated liability are

reviewed and updated quarterly However insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due

to the many relevant factors the effects of which are often unknown including the severity of an

injury the determination of our liability in proportion to other parties the number of incidents that

have occurred but are not reported and the effectiveness of our safety program Our accruals are based

on known facts historical trends both internal trends and industry averages and our reasonable

estimate of our future expenses We believe our accruals are adequate However our risk management

strategies and techniques may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk exposure in all market

environments or against all types of risk In January 2009 our company-wide risk manager left the

company and his former job responsibilities continue to be shared between several of our officers If

any of the variety of instruments processes or strategies we use to manage our exposure to various

types of risk are not effective which could include failed transition of the prior risk managers work

duties we may incur losses that are not covered by our insurance policies or that exceed our accruals

or coverage limits

Additionally we typically are contractually required to provide proof of insurance on projects we

work on Historically insurance market conditions become more difficult for insurance consumers

during periods when insurance companies suffer significant investment losses as well as casualty losses

Consequently it is possible that insurance markets will become more expensive and restrictive Also

our prior casualty loss history might adversely affect our ability to procure insurance within

commercially reasonable ranges As such we may not be able to maintain commercially reasonable

levels of insurance coverage in the future which could preclude our ability to work on many projects

Our insurance providers are under no commitment to renew our existing insurance policies in the

future therefore Our ability to obtain necessary levels or kinds of insurance coverage is subject to

market forces outside our control If we were unable to obtain necessary levels of insurance it is likely

we would be unable to compete for or work on most projects
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If we experience delays and/or defaults in customer payments we could be unable to recover all expenditures

Because of the nature of our contracts at times we commit resources to projects prior to receiving

payments from the customer in amounts sufficient to cover expenditures on projects as they are

incurred Delays in customer payments may require us to make working capital investment If

customer defaults in making their payments on project to which we have devoted resources it could

have material negative effect on our results of operations

Actual and potential claims lawsuits and proceedings could ultimately reduce our profitability and liquidity

and weaken our financial condition

We are likely to continue to be named as defendant in legal proceedings claiming damages from

us in connection with the operation of our business Most of the actions against us arise out of the

normal course of our performing services on project sites We also are and are likely to continue to be
from time to time plaintiff in legal proceedings against customers in which we seek to recover

payment of contractual amounts we are owed as well as claims for increased costs we incur When

appropriate we establish provisions against possible exposures and we adjust these provisions from

time to time according to ongoing exposure If our assumptions and estimates related to these

exposures prove to be inadequate or inaccurate we could experience reduction in our profitability

and liquidity and weakening of our financial condition In addition claim lawsuits and proceedings

may harm our reputation or divert management resources away from operating our business

Our recent and future acquisitions may not be successful

We expect to continue pursuing selective acquisitions of businesses We cannot assure you that we
will be able to locate acquisitions or that we will be able to consummate transactions on terms and

conditions acceptable to us or that acquired businesses will be profitable Acquisitions may expose us

to additional business risks different than those we have traditionally experienced We also may
encounter difficulties integrating acquired businesses and successfully managing the growth we expect to

experience from these acquisitions

We may choose to finance future acquisitions with debt equity cash or combination of the three

We can give no assurances that any future acquisitions will not dilute earnings or disrupt the payment
of stockholder dividend To the extent we succeed in making acquisitions number of risks will

result including

the assumption of material liabilities including for environmental-related costs

failure of due diligence to uncover situations that could result in legal exposure or to quantif
the true liability exposure from known risks

the diversion of managements attention from the management of daily operations to the

integration of operations

difficulties in the assimilation and retention of employees in the assimilation of different

cultures and practices in the assimilation of broad and geogtaphically dispersed personnel and

operations and the retention of employees generally

the risk of additional financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax

planning treasury management financial reporting and internal controls and

we may not be able to realize the cost savings or other financial benefits we anticipated prior to

the acquisition

The failure to successfully integrate acquisitions could have an adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations
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Our common stock which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange has from time to time experienced

signficant price and volume fluctuations These fluctuations are likely to continue in the future and our

stockholders may suffer losses

The market price of our common stock may change significantly in response to various factors and

events beyond our control variety of events may cause the market price of our common stock to

fluctuate significantly including the following the risk factors described in this Report on

Form 10-K ii shortfall in operating revenue or net income from that expected by securities analysts

and investors iii changes in securities analysts estimates of our financial performance or that of our

competitors or companies in our industry generally iv general conditions in our customers industries

general conditions in the securities markets vi our announcements of significant contracts

milestones acquisitions vii our relationship with other companies viii our investors view of the

sectors and markets in which we operate and ix additions or departures of key personnel Some

companies that have volatile market prices for their securities have been subject to security class action

suits filed against them If suit were to be filed against us regardless of the outcome it could result

in substantial costs and diversion of our managements attention and resources This could have

material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

If we do not effectively manage the size and cost of our operations our existing infrastructure may become

either strained or over-burdensome and we may be unable to increase revenue growth

The growth that we have experienced in the past and that we may experience in the future may

provide challenges to our organization requiring us to expand our personnel and our operations

Future growth may strain our infrastructure operations and other managerial and operating resources

We have also experienced in the past severe constriction in the markets in which we operate and as

result in our operating requirements Failing to maintain the appropriate cost structure for particular

economic cycle may result in our incurring costs that affect our profitability If our business resources

become strained or over-burdensome our earnings may be adversely affected and we may be unable to

increase revenue growth Further we may undertake contractual commitments that exceed our labor

resources which could also adversely affect our earnings and our ability to increase revenue growth

Failure or circumvention of our disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial

reporting could seriously harm our financial condition results of operations and our business

We plan to continue to maintain and strengthen internal controls and procedures to enhance the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting Any system of

controls however well designed and operated is based in part on certain assumptions and can provide

only reasonable and not absolute assurances that the objectives of the system are met Any failure of

our disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting could harm our

financial condition and results of operations

Our charter contains certain anti-takeover provisions that may inhibit or delay change in controL

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue without stockholder

approval one or more series of preferred stock having such preferences powers and relative

participating optional and other rights including preferences over the common stock respecting

dividends and distributions and voting rights as the board of directors may determine The issuance of

this blank-check preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain

control by means of tender offer merger proxy contest or otherwise Additionally certain provisions

of the Delaware General Corporation Law may also discourage takeover attempts that have not been

approved by the Board of Directors
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ITEM lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

ITEM Properties

We own four properties two of which we acquired through acquisition and two which we formerly
leased Other than these four properties we lease the real property and buildings from which we

operate Our facilities are located in 29 states and Puerto Rico and consist of offices shops and

fabrication maintenance and warehouse facilities Generally leases range from three to ten years and

are on tenns we believe to be commercially reasonable majority of these premises are leased from

individuals or entities with whom we have no other business relationship In certain instances these

leases are with current or former employees To the extent we renew enter into leases or otherwise

change leases with current or former employees we enter into such agreements on terms that reect
fair market valuation for the properties Leased premises range in size from approximately 1000 square
feet to 110000 square feet To maximize available capital we generally intend to continue to lease our

properties but may consider further purchases of property where we believe ownership would be more
economical We believe that our facilities are sufficient for our current needs

We lease our executive and administrative offices in Houston Texas

ITEM Legal Proceedings

We are subject to certain claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course of business We maintain

various insurance coverages to minimize financial risk associated with these claims We have estimated

and provided accruals for probable losses and related legal fees associated with certain litigation in our

consolidated financial statements While we cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings in our

opinion and based on reports of counsel any liability arising from these matters individually and in the

aggregate will not have material effect on our operating results or financial condition after giving

effect to provisions already recorded

ITEM Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

PART II

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

The following table sets forth the reported high and low sales prices of our Common Stock for the

quarters indicated as traded at the New York Stock Exchange Our Common Stock is traded under the

symbol FIX

Cash

Dividends

High Low Declared

Fourth Quarter 2011 $11.75 7.88 $0.050

Third Quarter 2011 $11.88 8.32 $0.050

Second Quarter 2011 $14.30 $10.05 $0.050

First Quarter 2011 $14.07 $12.12 $0.050

Fourth Quarter 2010 $13.39 $10.68 $0.050

Third Quarter 2010 $11.76 9.69 $0.050

Second Quarter 2010 $14.48 9.66 $0.050

First Quarter 2010 $13.26 $11.23 $0.050
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As of February 24 2012 there were approximately 370 stockholders of record of our Common

Stock and the last reported sale price on that date was $12.08 per share

We expect to continue paying cash dividends quarterly although there is no assurance as to future

dividends because they depend on future earnings capital requirements and financial condition In

addition our revolving credit agreement limits the amount of dividends we can pay at any time that the

ratio of our Adjusted Indebtedness to our Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA exceeds 2.0

The following Corporate Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed

soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by

reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to the extent that

we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Among Comfort Systems USA Inc the SP 500 Index and the Russell 2000 Index
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Copyright 2012 Sl division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc All rights reserved

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On March 29 2007 our Board of Directors the Board approved stock repurchase program

to acquire up to 1.0 million shares of our outstanding common stock During the fourth quarter
of

2011 the Board approved an extension of the program to acquire up to an additional 1.0 million

shares Since the inception of the repurchase program the Board has approved 6.6 million shares to be

repurchased

The share repurchases will be made from time to time at our discretion in the open market or

privately negotiated transactions as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements and
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subject to market conditions and other factors The Board may modify suspend extend or terminate

January January 31

February February 28..

March March 31

April April 30

May May 31

June June 30

July July 31

August August 31

September September 30

October October 31

November November 30
December December 31

$10.66

$10.31

Total Number of Shares

Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plans

or Programs

4867047

4867047

4867047

4867047

4944056

5224539

5224539

5384027

5504486

5545679

5605537

5605637

5605637

733490

733490

733490

733490

656481

375998

375998

216510

96051

54858

995000

994900

994900

the program at any time

During the year ended December 31 2011 we purchased our common shares in the following

amounts at the following weighted-average prices

Period

Total Number of

Shares Purchased

Weighted-

Average Price

Paid Per Share

Maximum Number of

Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans

or Programs

77009

280483

159488

120459

41193

59858
100

738590

9.51

9.07

8.58

9.71

8.99

9.83
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iTEM Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical financial data has been derived from our audited financial

statements and should be read in conjunction with the historical Consolidated Financial Statements and

related notes

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

in thousands except per share amounts
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA
Revenue $1240020 $1108282 $1128907 $1321770 $1101579

Operating income lossa 49368 20042 56633 79446 49419

Income loss from continuing operations 36492 14017 34596 49804 32219

Discontinued operations

Operating income loss net of tax 339 114 247

Gain loss on disposition net of tax 723 75
Net income loss including noncontrolling

interests 36492 14740 34182 49690 32466

Net income loss attributable to Comfort

Systems USA Inc 36830 14740 34182 49690 32466

Income loss per
share attributable to

Comfort Systems USA Inc

Basic
Income loss from continuing operations 0.99 0.37 0.91 1.26 0.79

Discontinued operations

Income loss from operations 0.01 0.01

Gain loss on disposition 0.02

Net income loss 0.99 0.39 0.90 1.26 0.80

Diluted

Income loss from continuing operations 0.99 0.37 0.90 1.24 0.78

Discontinued operations

Income loss from operations 0.01 0.01

Gain loss on disposition 0.02

Net income loss 0.99 0.39 0.89 1.24 0.79

Cash dividends per share 0.200 0.200 0.190 0.180 0.150

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Working capital 109311 134738 164125 146804 168930

Total assets 591066 640020 574948 598492 547067

Total debt 15381 29936 7608 10699 1500

Total stockholders equity 283106 312784 305984 286471 262578

Total Comfort Systems USA Inc

stockholders equity 264591 312784 305984 286471 262578

Included in operating income are goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges of

$58.9 million and $5.7 million for 2011 and 2010 respectively There were no goodwill impairment

charges for 2009 2008 or 2007
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated

Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K Also

see Forward-Looking Statements discussion

Introduction and Overview

We are national provider of comprehensive HVAC installation maintenance repair and

replacement services within the mechanical services industry We operate primarily in the commercial

industrial and institutional HVAC markets and perform most of our services within office buildings

retail centers apartment complexes manufacturing plants and healthcare education and government

facilities In addition to standard HVAC services we provide specialized applications such as building

automation control systems fire protection process cooling electronic monitoring and process piping

Certain locations also perform related activities such as electrical service and plumbing

Nature and Economics of Our Business

Approximately 83% of our revenues are earned on project basis for installation of HVAC

systems in newly constructed facilities or for replacement of HVAC systems in existing facilities

Customers hire us to ensure such systems deliver specified or generally expected heating cooling

conditioning and circulation of air in facility This entails installing core system equipment such as

packaged heating and air conditioning units or in the case of larger facilities separate core

components such as chillers boilers air handlers and cooling towers We also typically install

connecting and distribution elements such as piping and ducting Our responsibilities usually require

conforming the systems to pre-established engineering drawings and equipment and performance

specifications which we frequently participate in establishing Our project management responsibilities

include staging equipment and materials to project sites deploying labor to perform the work and

coordinating with other service providers on the project including any subcontractors we might use to

deliver our portion of the work

When competing for project business we usually estimate the costs we will incur on project and

then propose bid to the customer that includes contract price and other performance and payment

terms Our bid price and terms are intended to cover our estimated costs on the project and provide

profit margin to us commensurate with the value of the installed system to the customer the risk that

project costs or duration will vary from estimate the schedule on which we will be paid the

opportunities for other work that we might forego by committing capacity to this project and other

costs that we incur more broadly to support our operations but which are not specific to the project

Typically customers will seek bids from competitors for given project While the criteria on which

customers select the winning bid vary widely and include factors such as quality technical expertise

on-time performance post-project support and service and company history and financial strength we

believe that price is the most influential factor for most customers in choosing an HVAC installation

and service provider

After customer accepts our bid we generally enter into contract with the customer that

specifies what we will deliver on the project what our related responsibilities are and how much and

when we will be paid Our overall price for the project is typically set at fixed amount in the contract

although changes in project specifications or work conditions that result in unexpected additional work

are usually subject to additional payment from the customer via what are commonly known as change

orders Project contracts typically provide for periodic billings to the customer as we meet progress

milestones or incur cost on the project Project contracts in our industry also frequently allow for

small portion of
progress billings or contract price to be withheld by the customer until after we have

23



completed the work typically for six months Amounts withheld under this practice are known as
retention or retainage

Labor and overhead costs account for the majority of our cost of service Accordingly labor

management and utilization have the most impact on our project performance Given the fixed price
nature of much of our project work if our initial estimate of project costs is wrong or we incur cost

overruns that cannot be recovered in change orders we can experience reduced profits or even

significant losses on fixed price project work We also perform some project work on cost-plus or

time and materials basis under which we are paid our costs incurred plus an agreed upon profit
margin These margins are typically less than

fixed-price contract margins because there is less risk of

unrecoverable cost overruns in cost-plus or time and materials work

As of December 31 2011 we had 4425 projects in process Our average project takes six to nine

months to complete with an average contract price of approximately $420000 Our projects generally

require working capital funding of equipment and labor costs Customer payments on periodic billings

generally do not recover these costs until late in the job Our average project duration together with

typical retention terms as discussed above
generally allow us to complete the realization of revenue and

earnings in cash within one year We have what we believe is well diversified distribution of revenues
across end-use sectors that we believe reduces our exposure to negative developments in any given
sector Because of the integral nature of HVAC and related controls systems to most buildings we have
the legal right in almost all cases to attach liens to buildings or related funding sources when we have
not been fully paid for installing systems except with

respect to some government buildings The
service work that we do which is discussed further below usually does not give rise to lien rights

We also perform larger HVAC projects As of December 31 2011 we had 12 projects in process
with contract price greater than $15 million projects between $10 million and $15 million

projects between $5 million and $10 million and 230 projects between $1 million and $5 million lhken

together projects with contract prices of $1 million or more totaled $1249.8 million of aggregate
contract value as of December 31 2011 or approximately 67% out of total contract value for all

projects in
progress of $1858.6 million Generally projects closer in size to $1 million will be

completed in one year or less It is unusual for us to work on project that exceeds two years in

length

In addition to project work approximately 17% of our revenues represent maintenance and repair
service on already installed HVAC and controls systems This kind of work usually takes from few

hours to few days to perform Prices to the customer are usually based on the equipment and

materials used in the service as well as technician labor time We usually bill the customer for service

work when it is complete typically with payment terms of up to thirty days We also provide
maintenance and repair service under ongoing contracts Under these contracts we are paid regular

monthly or quarterly amounts and provide specified service based on customer requirements These

agreements typically cover periods ranging from one to three years with thirty- to sixty-day cancellation

notice periods

relatively small portion of our revenues comes from national and regional account customers
These customers typically have multiple sites and contract with us to perform maintenance and repair
service These contracts may also provide for us to perform new or replacement systems installation

We operate national call center to dispatch technicians to sites requiring service We perform the

majority of this work with our own employees with the balance being subcontracted to third parties
that meet our performance qualifications We will also typically use proprietary information systems to

maintain information on the customers sites and equipment including performance and service

records and related cost data These systems track the status of ongoing service and installation work
and may also monitor system performance data Under these contractual

relationships we usually

provide consolidated billing and credit payment terms to the customer
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Profile and Management of Our Operations

We manage our 38 operating units based on variety of factors Financial measures we emphasize

include profitability and use of capital as indicated by cash flow and by other measures of working

capital principally involving project cost billings and receivables We also monitor selling general

administrative and indirect project support expense backlog workforce size and mix growth in

revenues and profits variation of actual project cost from original estimate and overall financial

performance in comparison to budget and updated forecasts Operational factors we emphasize include

project selection estimating pricing management and execution practices labor utilization safety

training and the make-up of both existing backlog as well as new business being pursued in terms of

project size technical application and facility type end-use customers and industries and location of

the work

Most of our operations compete on local or regional basis Attracting and retaining effective

operating unit managers is an important factor in our business particularly in view of the relative

uniqueness of each market and operation the importance of relationships with customers and other

market participants such as architects and consulting engineers and the high degree of competition and

low barriers to entry in most of our markets Accordingly we devote considerable attention to

operating unit management quality stability and contingency planning including related considerations

of compensation and non-competition protection where applicable

Economic and Industry Factors

As an HVAC and building controls services provider we operate in the broader nonresidential

construction services industry and are affected by trends in this sector While we do not have

operations in all major cities of the United States we believe our national presence is sufficiently large

that we experience trends in demand for and pricing of our services that are consistent with trends in

the national nonresidential construction sector As result we monitor the views of major construction

sector forecasters along with macroeconomic factors they believe drive the sector including trends in

gross domestic product interest rates business investment employment demographics and the general

fiscal condition of federal state and local governments

Spending decisions for building construction renovation and system replacement are generally

made on project basis usually with some degree of discretion as to when and if projects proceed

With larger amounts of capital time and discretion involved spending decisions are affected to

significant degree by uncertainty particularly concerns about economic and financial conditions and

trends We have experienced periods of time when economic weakness caused significant slowdown in

decisions to proceed with installation and replacement project work

Operating Environment and Management Emphasis

Nonresidential building construction and renovation activity as reported by the federal

government declined over the three year period of 2001 to 2003 expanded moderately during 2004

and 2005 and was strong over the three year period from 2006 to 2008 We experienced significant

industry activity declines over the three year period from 2009 to 2011 During the periods of decline

we responded to market challenges by pursuing work in sectors less affected by the downturn such as

government educational and health care facilities and by establishing marketing initiatives that take

advantage of our size and range of expertise We also responded to declining gross profits over those

years by reducing our selling general and administrative expenses and our indirect project and service

overhead costs We believe our efforts in these areas partially offset the decline in our profitability over

that period

As result of our continued strong emphasis on cash flow our debt outstanding under our

revolving credit facility is zero and we have substantial uncommitted cash balances as discussed further
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in Liquidity and Capital Resources below We have credit facility in place with considerably less

restrictive terms than those of our previous facilities this facility does not expire until September 2016

We have strong surety relationships to support our bonding needs and we believe our relationships

with the surety markets are positive in light of our strong current results and financial position We

have generated positive free cash flow in each of the last thirteen calendar years and will continue our

emphasis in this area We believe that the relative size and strength of our balance sheet and surety

support as compared to most companies in our industry represent competitive advantages for us

As discussed at greater length in Results of Operations below we have seen declining activity

levels in our industry since late 2008 and we expect price competition to continue to be strong as local

and regional competitors respond cautiously to changing conditions We will continue our efforts to

find the more active sectors in our markets and to increase our regional and national account business

Our primary emphasis for 2012 will be on execution and cost control and on maintaining activity levels

that will permit us to earn reasonable profits while preserving our core workforce We have increased

our focus on project qualification estimating pricing and management and on service performance

Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies are based upon the significance of the accounting policy to our

overall financial statement presentation as well as the complexity of the accounting policy and our use

of estimates and subjective assessments Our most critical accounting policy is revenue recognition As

discussed elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K our business has two service functions

installation which we account for under the percentage of completion method and

iimaintenance repair and replacement which we account for as the services are performed or in the

case of replacement under the percentage of completion method In addition we identified other

critical accounting policies related to our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable the recording of

our self-insurance liabilities valuation of deferred tax assets accounting for acquisitions and the

recoverability of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets These accounting policies as well as others

are described in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual

report on Form 10-K

Percentage of Completion Method of Accounting

Approximately 83% of our revenue was earned on project basis and recognized through the

percentage of completion method of accounting Under this method contract revenue recognizable at

any time during the life of contract is determined by multiplying expected total contract revenue by

the percentage of contract costs incurred at any time to total estimated contract costs More

specifically as part of the negotiation and bidding process
in connection with obtaining installatioci

contracts we estimate our contract costs which include all direct materials exclusive of rebates labor

and subcontract costs and indirect costs related to contract performance such as indirect labor

supplies tools repairs and depreciation costs These contract costs are included in our results of

operations under the caption Cost of Services Then as we perform under those contracts we

measure costs incurred compare them to total estimated costs to complete the contract and recognize

corresponding proportion of contract revenue Labor costs are considered to be incurred as the work

is performed Subcontractor labor is recognized as the work is performed but is generally subjected to

approval as to milestones or other evidence of completion Non-labor project costs consist of purchased

equipment prefabricated materials and other materials Purchased equipment on our projects is

substantially produced to job specifications and is value added element to our work The costs are

considered to be incurred when title is transferred to us which typically is upon delivery to the

worksite Prefabricated materials such as ductwork and piping are generally performed at our shops

and recognized as contract costs when fabricated for the unique specifications of the job Other

materials costs are not significant and are generally recorded when delivered to the worksite This
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measurement and comparison process requires updates to the estinate of total costs to complete the

contract and these updates may include subjective assessments

We generally do not incur significant costs prior to receiving contract and therefore these costs

are expensed as incurred In limited circumstances when significant pre-contract costs are incurred

they are deferred if the costs can be directly associated with specific contract and if their

recoverability from the contract is probable Upon receiving the contract these costs are included in

contract costs Deferred costs associated with unsuccessful contract bids are written off in the period

that we are informed that we will not be awarded the contract

Project contracts typically provide for schedule of billings or invoices to the customer based on

reaching agreed upon milestones or as we incur costs The schedules for such billings usually do not

precisely match the schedule on which costs are incurred As result contract revenue recognized in

the statement of operations can and usually does differ from amounts that can be billed or invoiced to

the customer at any point during the contract Amounts by which cumulative contract revenue

recognized on contract as of given date exceed cumulative billings to the customer under the

contract are reflected as current asset in our balance sheet under the caption Costs and estimated

earnings in excess of billings Amounts by which cumulative billings to the customer under contract

as of given date exceed cumulative contract revenue recognized on the contract are reflected as

current liability in our balance sheet under the caption Billings in excess of costs and estimated

earnings

The percentage of completion method of accounting is also affected by changes in job

performance job conditions and final contract settlements These factors may result in revisions to

estimated costs and therefore revenue Such revisions are frequently based on further estimates and

subjective assessments The effects of these revisions are recognized in the period in which revisions are

determined When such revisions lead to conclusion that loss will be recognized on contract the

full amount of the estimated ultimate loss is recognized in the period such conclusion is reached

regardless of the percentage of completion of the contract

Revisions to project costs and conditions can give rise to change orders under which the customer

agrees to pay additional contract price Revisions can also result in claims we might make against the

customer to recover project variances that have not been satisfactorily addressed through change orders

with the customer Except in certain circumstances we do not recognize revenue or margin based on

change orders or claims until they have been agreed upon with the customer The amount of revenue

associated with unapproved change orders and claims is currently immaterial

Variations from estimated project costs could have significant impact on our operating results

depending on project size and the recoverability of the variation via additional customer payments

Accounting for Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We are required to estimate the collectability of accounts receivable and provide an allowance for

doubtful accounts for receivable amounts we believe we will not ultimately collect This requires us to

make certain judgments and estimates involving among others the creditworthiness of our customers

prior collection history with our customers ongoing relationships with our customers the aging of past

due balances our lien rights if any in the property where we performed the .work and the availability

if any of payment bonds applicable to the contract These estimates are evaluated and adjusted as

needed when additional information is received
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Accounting for Self-Insurance
Liabilities

We are substantially self-insured for workers compensation employers liability auto liability

general liability and employee group health claims in view of the relatively high per-incident deductibles

we absorb under our insurance arrangements for these risks Losses up to deductible amounts are

estimated and accrued based upon known facts historical trends and industry averages Loss estimates

associated with the larger and longer-developing risksworkers compensation auto liability and

general liabilityare reviewed by third party actuary quarterly

We believe these accruals are adequate However insurance liabilities are difficult to estimate due

to unknown factors including the severity of an injury the determination of our liability in proportion

to other parties timely reporting of occurrences ongoing treatment or loss mitigation general trends jn

litigation recovery
outcomes and the effectiveness of safety and risk management programs Therefore

if actual experience differs from the assumptions and estimates used for recording the liabilities

adjustments may be required and would be recorded in the period that such experience becomes

known

Accounting for Deferred Tax Assets

We regularly evaluate valuation allowances established for deferred tax assets for which future

realization is uncertain We perform this evaluation quarterly Estimations of required valuation

allowances include estimates of future taxable income The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the activity

underlying these assets becomes deductible We consider projected future taxable income and tax

planning strategies in making this assessment If actual future taxable income is less than the estimates

we may not realize all or portion
of the recorded deferred tax assets

Acquisitions

We recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations including contingent

assets and liabilities based on fair value estimates as of the date of acquisition

Contingent ConsiderationIn certain acquisitions we agree to pay additional amounts to sellers

contingent upon achievement by the acquired businesses of certain predetermined profitability targets

Beginning in 2009 we have recognized liabilities for these contingent obligations based on their

estimated fair value at the date of acquisition with any differences between the acquisition-date
fair

value and the ultimate settlement of the obligations being recognized in income from operations For

acquisitions prior to 2009 these obligations are recognized as incurred and accounted for as an

adjustment to the initial purchase price of the acquired assets

Contingent Assets and LiabilitiesAssets and liabilities arising from contingencies are recognized at

their acquisition
date fair value when their respective fair values can be determined If the fair values

of such contingencies cannot be determined they are recognized at the acquisition date if the

contingencies are probable and an amount can be reasonably estimated Acquisition date fair value

estimates are revised as necessary if and when additional information regarding these contingencies

becomes available to further define and quantify assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Recoverability of Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired

businesses We assess goodwill for impairment each year and more frequently if circumstances suggest

an impairment may have occurred

When the carrying value of given reporting unit exceeds its fair value an impairment loss is

recorded to the extent that the implied
fair value of the goodwill of the reporting unit is less than its
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carrying value If other reporting units have had increases in fair value such increases may not be

recorded Accordingly such increases may not be netted against impairments at other reporting units

The requirements for assessing whether goodwill has been impaired involve market-based information

This information and its use in assessing goodwill entails some degree of subjective assessment

We currently perform our annual impairment testing as of October and any impairment charges

resulting from this process are reported in the fourth quarter We segregate our operations into

reporting units based on the degree of operating and financial independence of each unit and our

related management of them We perform our annual goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit

level

In the evaluation of goodwill for impairment we have the option to first assess qualitative factors

to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances lead to determination that it is more

likely than not that the fair value of one of our reporting units is greater than its carrying value If

after completing such assessment we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of

reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount then there is no need to perform any further testing

If we conclude otherwise then we perform the first step of two-step impairment test by calculating

the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing the fair value with the carrying value of the

reporting unit

We estimate the fair value of the reporting unit based on two market approaches and an income

approach which utilizes discounted future cash flows Assumptions critical to the fair value estimates

under the discounted cash flow model include discount rates cash flow projections projected long-term

growth rates and the determination of terminal values The market approaches utilized market

multiples of invested capital from comparable publicly traded companies public company approach

and comparable transactions transaction approach The market multiples from invested capital

include revenues book equity plus debt and earnings before interest taxes depreciation and

amortization EBITDA
There are significant inherent uncertainties and management judgment involved in estimating the

fair value of each reporting unit While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions

to estimate the fair value of our reporting units it is possible that material change could occur If

actual results are not consistent with our current estimates and assumptions or the current economic

downturn worsens or the projected recovery
is significantly delayed beyond our projections goodwill

impairment charges may be recorded in future periods

We amortize identifiable intangible assets with finite lives over their useful lives Changes in

strategy and/or market condition may result in adjustments to recorded intangible asset balances or

their useful lives
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Results of Operations in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenue $1240020 100.0% $1108282 100.0% $1128907 100.0%

Cost of services 1058568 85.4% 919600 83.0% 903357 80.0%

Gross profit 181452 14.6% 188682 17.0% 225550 20.0%

Selling general and

administrative expenses 172137 13.9% 163431 14.7% 169023 15.0%

Goodwill and other intangible

asset impairments 58922 4.8% 5734 0.5%

Gain on sale of assets 239 525 106

Operating income loss 49368 4.0% 20042 1.8% 56633 5.0%

Interest income 128 193 585 0.1%

Interest expense 1886 0.2% 1699 0.2% 1202 0.1%
Changes in the fair value of

contingent earn-out

obligations 5528 0.4% 1574 0.1%

Other income 934 0.1% 267 17

Income loss before income

taxes 44664 3.6% 20377 1.8% 56033 5.0%

Income tax expense benefit 8172 6360 21437

Income loss from continuing

operations 36492 2.9% 14017 1.3% 34596 3.1%

Discontinued operations

Operating loss net of tax 339
Gain loss on disposition net

of tax 723 75

Net income loss including

noncontrolling interests 36492 14470 34182

Less Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 338

Net income loss attributable to

Comfort Systems USA Inc 36830 14740 34182

2011 Compared to 2010

We had 39 operating locations as of December 31 2010 We acquired one company that operates

as an individual location during 2011 During the year we consolidated two companies into other

operations As of December 31 2011 we had 38 operating locations Acquisitions are included in our

results of operations from the respective acquisition date The same-store comparison from 2011 to

2010 as described below excludes the results of EAS acquired during 2011 and the first seven months

of 2011 for ColonialWebb which was acquired during 2010

RevenueRevenue increased $131.7 million or 11.9% to $1240.0 million in 2011 compared to

2010 The increase included 1.6% increase in revenue related to same-store activity and 10.3%

increase from acquisitions The same-store revenue increase stemmed primarily from increased activity

in the nonresidential markets throughout the United States especially in the government sector

approximately $20.0 million We have seen increased activity mainly in our Maryland operation
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Backlog reflects revenue still to be recognized under contracted or committed installation and

replacement project work Project work generally lasts less than one year Service agreement revenue

and service work and short duration projects which are generally billed as performed do not flow

through backlog Accordingly backlog represents only portion of our revenue for any given future

period and it represents revenue that is likely to be reflected in our operating results over the next six

to twelve months As result we believe the predictive value of backlog information is limited to

indications of general revenue direction over the near term and should not be interpreted as indicative

of ongoing revenue performance over several quarters

Backlog as of December 31 2011 was $633.2 million 0.5% decrease from September 30 2011

backlog of $636.1 million and 2.5% increase from December 31 2010 backlog of $617.9 million

Sequential backlog decreased 6.1% on same-store basis primarily related to our Maryland and

Wisconsin operations but was offset by 5.6% increase related to the acquisition of EAS

Approximately 5.8% of the year-over-year increase in backlog related to the EAS acquisition in 2011

The increase was offset by 3.3% decrease on same-store basis that primarily related to our

Delaware and New Hampshire operations

Gross ProfitGross profit decreased $7.2 million or 3.8% to $181.5 million in 2011 as compared

to 2010 As percentage of revenues gross profit for 2011 was 14.6% down from 17.0% in 2010 The

decrease in
gross profit percentage resulted primarily from difficult pricing environment The largest

decline was at our Maryland operation approximately $14.2 million due to the difficult pricing

environment as well as job write-downs We also had job write-downs at our Southern Alabama

operation approximately $4.5 million which has been consolidated into neighboring operation in the

Florida Panhandle

Selling General and Administrative Expenses SGASGA increased $8.7 million or 5.3% to

$172.1 million for 2011 as compared to 2010 On same-store basis excluding amortization expense

SGA decreased $9.3 million or 5.9% The decrease is primarily due to overhead reductions and

lower compensation accruals Amortization expense increased $1.5 million or 27.8% primarily related

to the ColonialWebb acquisition in 2010 As percentage of revenues SGA decreased to 13.9% in

2011 compared to 14.7% for 2010

We have included SGA on same-store basis excluding amortization because we believe it is an

effective measure of comparative results of operations prior to factoring in charges incurred for recent

acquisitions However SGA excluding amortization is not considered under generally accepted

accounting principles to be primary measure of an entitys financial results and accordingly should

not be considered an alternative to SGA as shown in our consolidated statements of operations

Year Ended
December 31

2011 2010

SGA $172137 $163431

Less SGA from companies acquired 16579
Less Amortization expense 6716 5256

Same-store SGA excluding amortization expense $148842 $158175

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset ImpairmentsWe recorded goodwill impairment charges of

$57.3 million during 2011 This impairment charge resulted from our estimation that the operating

environment conditions and performance at certain operating locations based in Virginia Maryland

and North Carolina including ColonialWebb could no longer support the related goodwill balance We

also recorded an intangible asset impairment of $1.6 million during 2011 as result of decision in the

fourth quarter of 2011 to curtail future operations at our operating location in Delaware This
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impairment charge resulted from our estimation that the carrying value of such intangibles will not be

fully recoverable The Company expects that in future reporting period the Delaware operation will

meet the criteria to be reported as discontinued operation The goodwill for this location was fully

impaired in 2010

Interest IncomeInterest income decreased $0.1 million or 33.7% in 2011 The decrease is

primarily due to lower interest rates and lower cash balances in 2011

Interest ExpenseInterest expense increased $0.2 million or 11.0% in 2011 The increase is due to

the increase in notes to former owners and amortization on debt financing costs incurred on the senior

credit facility we entered into during the year

Changes in the Fair Value of Contingent Earn-out ObligationsChanges in the fair value of

contingent earn-out obligations increased $4.0 million in 2011 to $5.5 million The increase relates to

updated fair value measurements based on estimated future cash flows

Other IncomeOther Income increased $0.7 million in 2011 compared to 2010 The increase is

primarily related to settlement of legal matter that resulted in $1.0 million gain

Income Tax EpenseOur year to date effective tax rate for 2011 was 18.3% as compared to

1.2% in 2010 The effective tax rate in the current year was lower than the federal statutory rate

primarily due to the impact of permanent difference related to the portion of the goodwill

impairment charge that is not deductible for tax purposes and an increase in valuation allowances

related to certain state net operating loss carryforwards This was partially offset by permanent

differences generated by acquisition related fair value adjustments Adjustments to tax reserves are

analyzed and adjusted quarterly as events occur to warrant such changes Adjustments to tax reserves

are component of the effective tax rate We currently estimate our effective tax rate for 2012 will be

between 35% and 45%

2010 Compared to 2009

We had 43 operating locations as of December 31 2009 We acquired one company that operates

as an individual location during 2010 During the year we consolidated five companies into other

operations As of December 31 2010 we had 39 operating locations Acquisitions are included in our

results of operations from the respective acquisition date The same-store comparison from 2009 to

2010 as described below excludes the results of two companies acquired on December 31 2009 and

ColonialWebb which was acquired during 2010

Revenue decreased $20.6 million or 1.8% to $1108.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 The

decrease included 13.3% decrease in revenue related to same-store activity offset by an 11.5%

increase from acquisitions The same-store revenue decrease stemmed primarily from reduced activity

in the nonresidential markets throughout the United States especially in the education sector

approximately $75.0 million as well as continued decreases in the multi-family sector approximately

$57.6 million We have seen decreased revenue mainly in our Maryland Denver and Delaware

operations resulting from the closeout of several large projects as well as decline in market activity

Backlog as of December 31 2010 was $617.9 million 3.2% decrease from September 30 2010

backlog of $638.5 million and 12.3% increase from December 31 2009 backlog of $550.2 million The

sequential decrease was primarily related to two of our Virginia operations The decrease was partially

offset by increases at one of our Maryland operations Approximately 16.8% of the
year-over-year

increase in backlog related to the ColonialWebb acquisition in 2010 The increase was offset by 4.5%

decrease on same-store basis that primarily related to one of our Virginia operations and our

Delaware operation This same-store decrease was offset by an increase at one of our Maryland

operations
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Gross ProfitGross profit decreased $36.9 million or 16.3% to $188.7 million in 2010 as

compared to 2009 As percentage of revenues gross profit for 2010 was 17.0% down from 20.0% in

2009 The decrease in gross profit percentage resulted from broad-based declines across various

entities but specifically from lower profitability at our Central Florida operation approximately

$6.2 million as well as job write-downs at our Delaware operation approximately $5.6 million

Selling General and Administrative ExpensesSGA decreased $5.6 million or 3.3% to

$163.4 million for 2010 as compared to 2009 On same-store basis excluding amortization expense

SGA decreased $23.9 million or 14.4% The decrease is primarily due to overhead reductions lower

compensation accruals and lower bad debt expense Amortization expense increased $2.5 million or

93.9% primarily related to the ColonialWebb acquisition in 2010 As percentage of revenues SGA
decreased slightly to 14.7% in 2010 compared to 15.0% for 2009

We have included SGA on same-store basis excluding amortization because we believe it is an

effective measure of comparative results of operations prior to factoring in charges incurred for recent

acquisitions However SGA excluding amortization is not considered under generally accepted

accounting principles to be primary measure of an entitys financial results and accordingly should

not be considered an alternative to SGA as shown in our consolidated statements of operations

Year Ended

December 31

2010 2009

SGA $163431 $169023

Less SGA from companies acquired 15780
Less Amortization expense 5256 2710

Same-store SGA excluding amortization expense $142395 $166313

Goodwill ImpairmentWe recorded goodwill impairment charge of $5.7 million during 2010 This

impairment charge resulted from our estimation that the operating environment conditions and

performance at our operating location based in Delaware could no longer support the related goodwill

balance

Interest IncomeInterest income decreased $0.4 million or 67.0% in 2010 The decrease is

primarily due to lower interest rates and lower cash balances in 2010

Interest ExpenseInterest expense increased $0.5 million or 41.3% in 2010 The increase is due to

the increase in notes to former owners and amortization on debt financing costs incurred on the senior

credit facility we entered into during the year

Changes in the Fair Value of Contingent Earn-out ObligationsChanges in the fair value of

contingent earn-out obligations increased $1.6 million in 2010 The increase relates to updated fair

value measurements based on estimated future cash flows

Income Tax ExpenseOur year to date effective tax rate for 2010 was 31.2% as compared to

38.3% in 2009 The decrease in the effective tax rate from the prior year is primarily due to the relative

size of valuation allowances released to current year earnings compared to the prior year and

reduction in state tax expense due to shift in earnings generated in unitary versus non-unitary states
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Outlook

We
expect

that weakness in the underlying environment for nonresidential activity has and will

continue to affect 2012 activity levels in our industry compared to recent years Our backlog while still

at solid levels by historical standards has declined substantially in recent years Our primary emphasis

for 2012 will be on execution including focus on cost discipline and efficient project and service

performance Based on our backlog and the weak economic conditions for our industry we expect

continued profitability during 2012 but we expect that the lower levels of profitability similar to those

that we experienced in 2011 will continue in 2012

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

in thousands

Cash provided by used in
Operating activities 29680 32149 54251

Investing activities 35750 43001 18822
Financing activities 29039 30652 24594

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents $35109 $41504 $10835

Free cash flow

Cash provided by operating activities 29680 32149 54251

Taxes paid related to pre-acquisition equity

transactions of an acquired company 7056

Purchases of property and equipment 8666 7089 9457
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 717 1381 770

Free cash flow 21731 33497 45564

Cash Flow

Our business does not require significant amounts of investment in long-term fixed assets The

substantial majority of the capital used in our business is working capital that funds our costs of labor

and installed equipment deployed in project work until our customer pays us Customary terms in our

industry allow customers to withhold small portion of the contract price until after we have

completed the work typically for six months Amounts withheld under this practice are known as

retention or retainage Our average project duration together with typical retention terms generally

allow us to complete the realization of revenue and earnings in cash within one year

2011 Compared to 2010 Discussion

Cash Provided by Operating ActivitiesWe generated $29.7 million of cash flow from operating

activities during 2011 compared with $32.1 million during 2010 The $2.4 million decrease is primarily

due to lower profitability in 2011 compared to 2010

Cash Used in Investing ActivitiesDuring 2011 cash used for investing activities was $35.8 million

compared with $43.0 million during 2010 The most significant item affecting the comparison of our

investing cash flows for these years primarily related to $30.0 million paid for acquisitions in 2011 as

compared to $42.7 million in 2010

Cash Used in Financing ActivitiesCash used for financing activities was $29.0 million for 2011

compared to $30.7 million during 2010 The most significant items affecting the comparison of our

financing cash flows for these years primarily related to our share repurchase program and payments
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on other long-term debt We repurchased approximately 0.7 million shares in 2011 for $7.3 million as

compared to 0.5 million shares in 2010 for $5.1 million Additionally we paid $14.4 million of debt

related to acquisitions in 2011 as compared to $17.7 million in 2010

2010 Compared to 2009

Cash Provided by Operating ActivitiesWe generated $32.1 million of cash flow from operating

activities during 2010 compared with $54.3 million during 2009 The $22.1 million decrease is primarily

due to lower income in 2010 as our net income decreased by $19.4 million from $34.2 million in 2009

to $14.7 million in 2010

Cash Used in Investing ActivitiesDuring 2010 cash used for investing activities was $43.0 million

compared with $18.8 million during 2009 The most significant item affecting the comparison of our

investing cash flows for these years primarily related to $42.7 million paid for acquisitions in 2010 as

compared to $14.6 million in 2009

Cash Used in Financing ActivitiesCash used for financing activities was $30.7 million for 2010

compared to $24.6 million during 2009 The most significant item affecting the comparison of our

financing cash flows for these years primarily related to our share repurchase program and payments

on other long-term debt We repurchased approximately 0.5 million shares in 2010 for $5.1 million as

compared to 1.2 million shares in 2009 for $12.6 million Additionally we paid $17.7 million of debt

related to acquisitions

Free Cash Flow

We define free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities less customary capital

expenditures plus the proceeds from asset sales and taxes paid related to pre-acquisition equity

transactions of an acquired company We believe free cash flow by encompassing both profit margins

and the use of working capital over our approximately one year working capital cycle is an effective

measure of operating effectiveness and efficiency We have included free cash flow information here for

this reason and because we are often asked about it by third parties evaluating us However free cash

flow is not considered under generally accepted accounting principles to be primary measure of an

entitys financial results and accordingly free cash flow should not be considered an alternative to

operating income net income or amounts shown in our consolidated statements of cash flows as

determined under generally accepted accounting principles Free cash flow may be defined differently

by other companies

Marketable Securities

As of December 31 2010 our marketable securities consisted of $2.0 million of auction rate

securities which are variable rate debt instruments having long-term maturities with final maturities

up to June 2032 We sold the entire $2.0 million of these auction rate securities at face value during

the first quarter of 2011

Share Repurchase Program

On March 29 2007 our Board of Directors the Board approved stock repurchase program

to acquire up to 1.0 million shares of our outstanding stock During the fourth quarter of 2011 the

Board approved an extension of the program to acquire up to an additional 1.0 million shares Since

the inception of the repurchase program the Board has approved 6.6 million shares to be repurchased

The share repurchases will be made from time to time at our discretion in the open market or

privately negotiated transactions as permitted br securities laws and other legal requirements and

subject to market conditions and other factors The Board may modify suspend extend or terminate

35



the program at any time We repurchased 0.7 million shares for approximately $7.3 million for the year

ended December 31 2011 at an average price of $9.83 per share We repurchased 0.5 million shares

for approximately $5.1 million and 1.2 million shares for approximately $12.6 million under our share

repurchase program for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Since the inception

of the repurchase program in 2007 and as of December 31 2011 we have repurchased cumulative

total of 5.6 million shares for $61.5 million at an average price of $10.97 per share

Debt

Credit Facility

On September 23 2011 we amended our $125.0 million senior credit facility the Facility

provided by syndicate of banks The Facility which is available for borrowings and letters of credit

now expires in September 2016 and is secured by the capital stock of our current and future

subsidiaries As of December 31 2011 we had no outstanding borrowings $42.7 million in letters of

credit outstanding and $82.3 million of credit available

There are two interest rate options
for borrowings under the Facility the Base Rate Loan option

and the Eurodollar Rate Loan option These rates are floating rates determined by the broad financial

markets meaning they can and do move up and down from time to time Additional margins are then

added to these two rates We estimate that the interest rate applicable to the borrowings under the

Facility would be approximately 2.6% as of December 31 2011

We have used letters of credit to guarantee performance under our contracts and to ensure

payment to our subcontractors and vendors under those contracts Our lenders issue such letters of

credit through the Facility for fee We have never had claim made against letter of credit that

resulted in payments by lender or by us and believe such claims are unlikely in the foreseeable future

The letter of credit fees range from 1.30% to 2.10% per annum based on the ratio of Consolidated

Total Indebtedness to Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement

Commitment fees are payable on the portion of the revolving loan capacity not in use for

borrowings or letters of credit at any given time These fees range from 0.25%-0.50% per annum based

on the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the

credit agreement

Interest expense included the following primary elements in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Interest expense on notes to former owners 795 627 505

Interest expense on borrowings and unused commitment

fees
243 287 127

Letter of credit fees 622 447 462

Amortization of deferred debt arrangement costs 226 338 108

Total $1886 $1699 $1202

The Facility contains financial covenants defining various measures and the levels of these

measures with which we must comply Covenant compliance is assessed as of each quarter end Credit

Facility Adjusted EBITDA is defined under the Facility for financial covenant purposes as net earnings

for the four quarters ending as of any given quarterly covenant compliance measurement date plus the

corresponding amounts for interest expense income taxes depreciation and amortization
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other non-cash charges and pre-acquisition results of acquired companies The following is

reconciliation of Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA to net income in thousands

Net loss including noncontrolling interests $36492
Income taxescontinuing operations 8172
Interest expense net 1758

Depreciation and amortization expense 20053

Stock compensation expense 3604

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments 58922

EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interest 647
Pre-acquisition results of acquired companies as defined under the Facility 17016

Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA 56042

The Facilitys principal financial covenants include

Leverage RatioThe Facility requires that the ratio of our Consolidated Total Indebtedness to

our Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA not exceed 3.00 through December 31 2013 2.75 through

June 30 2014 and 2.50 through maturity The leverage ratio as of December 31 2011 was 0.27

Fixed Charge Coverage RatioThe Facility requires that the ratio of Credit Facility Adjusted

EBITDA less non-financed capital expenditures tax provision dividends and amounts used to

repurchase stock to the sum of interest expense and scheduled principal payments of indebtedness

be at least 2.00 provided that the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio excludes stock

repurchases and the payment of dividends at any time that the Companys Net Leverage Ratio

does not exceed 2.0 through December 31 2013 1.5 through June 30 2014 and 1.0 through

maturity Capital expenditures tax provision dividends and stock repurchase payments are defined

under the Facility for purposes of this covenant to be amounts for the four quarters ending as of

any given quarterly covenant compliance measurement date The fixed charge coverage ratio as of

December 31 2011 was 18.78

Other RestrictionsThe Facility permits acquisitions of up to $15.0 million per transaction

provided that the aggregate purchase price of such an acquisition and of acquisitions in the

preceding 12 month period does not exceed $30.0 million However these limitations only apply

when the Companys Net Leverage Ratio is equal to or greater than 2.0

While the Facilitys financial covenants do not specifically govern capacity under the Facility if our

debt level under the Facility at quarter-end covenant compliance measurement date were to cause us

to violate the Facilitys leverage ratio covenant our borrowing capacity under the Facility and the

favorable terms that we currently enjoy could be negatively impacted by the lenders

We are in compliance with all of our financial covenants as of December 31 2011

Notes to Former Owners

We issued subordinated notes to the former owners of acquired companies as part of the

consideration used to acquire these companies These notes had an outstanding balance of

$12.7 million of which $0.3 million is current as of December 31 2011 and bear interest payable

annually at weighted average interest rate of 3.24%

Other Debt

In conjunction with our acquisition of ColonialWebb we acquired $3.0 million of long-term debt

related to an industrial revenue bond associated with its office building and warehouse Currently

$2.7 million of this debt is outstanding We have included both the $0.3 million current portion and the
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$2.4 million long-term portion on our balance sheet as of December 31 2011 The weighted average

interest rate on this variable rate debt as of December 31 2011 was approximately 0.25%

Outlook

We have generated positive net free cash flow for the last thirteen calendar years much of which

occurred during challenging economic and industry conditions We also expect to have borrowing

capacity under our credit facility and we maintain what we feel are reasonable cash balances We

believe these factors will provide us with sufficient liquidity to fund our operations for the foreseeable

future

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Commitments

As is common in our industry we have entered into certain off-balance sheet arrangements in the

ordinary course of business that result in risks not directly reflected in our balance sheets Our most

significant off-balance sheet transactions include liabilities associated with noncancelable operating

leases We also have other off-balance sheet obligations involving letters of credit and surety

guarantees

We enter into noncancelable operating leases for many of our facility vehicle and equipment

needs These leases allow us to conserve cash by paying monthly lease rental fee for use of facilities

vehicles and equipment rather than purchasing them At the end of the lease we have no further

obligation to the lessor If we decide to cancel or terminate lease before the end of its term we

would typically owe the lessor the remaining lease payments under the term of the lease

Certain of our vendors require letters of credit to ensure reimbursement for amounts they are

disbursing on our behalf such as to beneficiaries under our self-funded insurance programs We have

also occasionally used letters of credit to guarantee performance under our contracts and to ensure

payment to our subcontractors and vendors under those contracts The letters of credit we provide are

actually issued by our lenders through the Facility as described above letter of credit commits the

lenders to pay specified amounts to the holder of the letter of credit if the holder demonstrates that we

have failed to perform specified actions If this were to occur we would be required to reimburse the

lenders Depending on the circumstances of such reimbursement we may also have to record

charge to earnings for the reimbursement Absent claim there is no payment or reserving of funds by

us in connection with letter of credit However because claim on letter of credit would require

immediate reimbursement by us to our lenders letters of credit are treated as use of the Facilitys

capacity just the same as actual borrowings Claims against letters of credit are rare in our industry To

date we have not had claim made against letter of credit that resulted in payments by lender or

by us We believe that it is unlikely that we will have to fund claims under letter of credit in the

foreseeable future

Many customers particularly in connection with new construction require us to post performance

and payment bonds issued by financial institution known as surety If we fail to perform under the

terms of contract or to pay subcontractors and vendors who provided goods or services under

contract the customer may demand that the surety
make payments or provide services under the bond

We must reimburse the sureties for any expenses or outlays they incur To date we are not aware of

any losses to our sureties in connection with bonds the sureties have posted on our behalf and we do

not expect such losses to be incurred in the foreseeable future

Surety market conditions are currently challenging as result of significant losses incurred by many

sureties in recent periods both in the construction industry as well as in certain larger corporate

bankruptcies As result less bonding capacity is available in the market and terms have become more

restrictive Further under standard terms in the surety market sureties issue bonds on

project-by-project
basis and can decline to issue bonds at any time Historically approximately 25% to
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35% of our business has required bonds While we have strong surety relationships to support our

bonding needs current market conditions as well as changes in our sureties assessment of our

operating and financial risk could cause our sureties to decline to issue bonds for our work If that

were to occur our alternatives include doing more business that does not require bonds posting other

forms of collateral for project performance such as letters of credit or cash and seeking bonding

capacity from other sureties We would likely also encounter concerns from customers suppliers and

other market participants as to our creditworthiness While we believe our general operating and

financial characteristics including significant amount of cash on our balance sheet would enable us

to ultimately respond effectively to an interruption in the availability of bonding capacity such an

interruption would likely cause our revenues and profits to decline in the near term

Contractual Obligations

The following recaps
the future maturities of our contractual obligations as of December 31 2011

in thousands

J.\velve Months Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Notes to former owners 332 350 $11999 $12681

Other debt 300 300 300 300 300 1200 2700
Interest payable 356 397 320 1079

Operating lease obligations 10579 9115 6460 4640 3088 7264 41146

Total $11567 $10162 $19079 $4941 $3389 $8468 $57606

As discussed in Note 10 Income Taxes included in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at

December 31 2011 is approximately $0.7 million of liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions

Due to the uncertain and complex application of tax regulations combined with the difficulty in

predicting when tax audits may be concluded we cannot make reliable estimates of the timing of cash

outflows relating to these liabilities

Absent any significant commitments of capital for items such as capital expenditures acquisitions

dividends and share repurchases it is reasonable to expect us to continue to maintain excess cash on

our balance sheet Therefore we assumed that we would continue our current status of not using any

borrowings under our revolving credit facility

As of December 31 2011 we also have $42.7 million in letter of credit commitments of which

$40.4 million will expire in 2012 and $2.3 million will expire in 2013 The substantial majority of these

letters of credit are posted with insurers who disburse funds on our behalf in connection with our

workers compensation auto liability and general liability insurance program These letters of credit

provide additional security to the insurers that sufficient financial resources will be available to fund

claims on our behalf many of which develop over long periods of time should we ever encounter

financial duress Posting of letters of credit for this purpose is common practice for entities that

manage their self-insurance programs through third-party insurers as we do While most of these letter

of credit commitments expire in 2012 we expect nearly all of them particularly those supporting our

insurance programs will be renewed annually

Other than the operating lease obligations noted above we have no significant purchase or

operating commitments outside of commitments to deliver equipment and provide labor in the ordinary

course of performing project work
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ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk primarily related to potential adverse changes in interest rates as

discussed below We are actively involved in monitoring exposure to market risk and continue to

develop and utilize appropriate risk management techniques We are not exposed to any other

significant financial market risks including commodity price risk foreign currency exchange risk or

interest rate risks from the use of derivative financial instruments We do not use derivative financial

instruments

We have limited exposure to changes in interest rates under our revolving credit facility the notes

to former owners and the industrial revenue bond We have debt facility under which we may borrow

funds in the future We do not currently foresee any borrowing needs Our debt with fixed interest

rates consists of notes to former owners of acquired companies

The following table presents principal amounts stated in thousands and related average interest

rates by year of maturity for our debt obligations and their indicated fair market value at December 31

2011

IWeIve Months Ended December 31

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Fixed Rate Debt $11999 $12681

Average Interest Rate 3.0% 3.0% 3.3% 3.24%

Variable Rate Debt $300 $300 300 $300 $300 $1200 2700

The weighted average interest rate on the variable rate debt as of December 31 2011 was

approximately 0.25%

We measure certain assets at fair value on nonrecurring basis These assets are recognized at fair

value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired For the year ended December 31

2011 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $57.3 million and an intangible impairment charge

of $1.6 million We did not recognize any other impairments on those assets required to be measured

at fair value on nonrecurring basis

The valuation of the Companys contingent earn-out payments is determined using probability

weighted discounted cash flow method This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the purchase

agreements e.g minimum and maximum payment length of earn-out periods manner of calculating

any amounts due etc and utilizes assumptions with regard to future cash flows probabilities of

achieving such future cash flows and discount rate
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Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f Under the

supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 11eadway Commission

COSO Based on that evaluation our management concluded that our internal control over financial

reporting was effective as of December 31 2011 Management has excluded the November 2011

acquisition of Environmental Air Systems LLC from its assessment of internal controls over financial

reporting as permitted in the year of acquisition under Securities and Exchange Commission guidance

The total assets of this acquisition represent approximately 12.2% of the Companys total assets at

December 31 2011 and this acquisition
contributed approximately 1.5% of the Companys 2011

revenue

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Ernst Young LL1 an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report

which is included elsewhere herein has issued an attestation report auditing the effectiveness of our

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Comfort Systems USA Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Comfort Systems USA Inc as

of December 31 2Olland 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the consolidated financial position of Comfort Systems USA Inc at December 31 2011 and 2010 and

the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period

ended December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Comfort Systems USA Inc.s internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated

Februaiy 29 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

is ERNST YOUNG LLP

Houston Texas

Februaiy 29 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Comfort Systems USA Inc

We have audited Comfort Systems USA Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria

Comfort Systems USA Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As indicated in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting managements assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting did not include the internal controls Environmental Air Systems LLC current year

acquisition by the Company which is included in the 2011 consolidated financial statements of Comfort

Systems USA Inc and constituted 12.2% of total assets as of December 31 2011 and 1.5% of revenues

for the year then ended Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Comfort Systems

USA Inc also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of

Environmental Air Systems LLC

In our opinion Comfort Systems USA Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2011 and 2010

and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders equity and cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 of Comfort Systems USA Inc and our report

dated February 29 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/5/ ERNST YOUNG LLP

Houston TX
February 29 2012
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COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In Thousands Except Share Amounts

December 31

2011 2010

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 51237 86346

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts of $5341 and $5096

respectively 267060 233893

Other receivables 6527 6682

Income tax receivable 9544

Inventories 10631 9365

Prepaid expenses
and other 24664 30470

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 27163 26648

Total current assets 387282 402948

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT NET 42013 43620

GOODWILL 107093 147818

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS NET 48349 39616

OTHER NONCURRENT ASSETS 6329 6018

Total assets $591066 $640020

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current maturities of long-term debt 300 300

Current maturities of notes to former owners 332 967

Accounts payable 114255 101134

Accrued compensation and benefits 36474 42577

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 71730 63422

Accrued self-insurance expense 27408 28994

Other current liabilities 27472 30816

Total current liabilities 277971 268210

LONG-TERM DEBT NET OF CURRENT MATURITIES 2400 2700

NOTES TO FORMER OWNERS NET OF CURRENT MATURITIES 12349 25969

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 4541 18871

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 10699 11486

Total liabilities 307960 327236

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Preferred stock $.01 par 5000000 shares authorized none issued and outstanding

Common stock $.01 par 102969912 shares authorized 41123365 and 41123365 shares

issued respectively 411 411

Treasury stock at cost 3714506 and 3221775 shares respectively 39437 34714
Additional paid-in capital 323608 326467

Retained earnings deficit 19991 20620

Comfort Systems USA Inc stockholders equity 264591 312784

Noncontrolling interests 18515

Total stockholders equity 283106 312784

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $591066 $640020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In Thousands Except Per Share Data

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

REVENUE $1240020 $1108282 $1128907

COST OF SERVICES 1058568 919600 903357

Gross profit 181452 188682 225550

SELLING GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 172137 163431 169023

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET IMPAIRMENTS 58922 5734

GAIN ON SALE OF ASSETS 239 525 106

Operating income loss 49368 20042 56633

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest income 128 193 585

Interest expense 1886 1699 1202

Changes in the fair value of contingent earn-out obligations 5528 1574

Other 934 267 17

Other income expense 4704 335 600

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 44664 20377 56033

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT 8172 6360 21437

INCOME LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 36492 14017 34596

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Operating loss net of income tax benefit of and $181 339
Gain loss on disposition of discontinued operation net of income tax expense of

$166 and $214 723 75

NET INCOME LOSS INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 36492 14740 34182

Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 338

NET INCOME LOSS ATFRIJ3UTABLE TO COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC 36830 14740 34182

INCOME LOSS PER SHARE ATITRIBUTABLE TO COMFORT SYSTEMS

USA INC
Basic

Income loss from continuing operations 0.99 0.37 0.91

Discontinued operations

Loss from operations 0.01

Gain loss on disposition
0.02

Net income loss 0.99 0.39 0.90

Diluted

Income loss from continuing operations 0.99 0.37 0.90

Discontinued operations

Loss from operations 0.01

Gain loss on disposition
0.02

Net income loss 0.99 0.39 0.89

SHARES USED IN COMPUTING INCOME LOSS PER SHARE
Basic 37389 37549 38046

Diluted 37389 37790 38451

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE 0.200 0.200 0.190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

In Thousands Except Share Amounts

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Comprehensive income

Issuance of Stock

Issuance of shares for options

exercised including tax benefit

Issuance of restricted stock

Shares received in lieu of tax

withholding payment on vested

restricted stock

Thx benefit from vesting of restricted

stock

Forfeiture of unvested restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Dividends

Share repurchase

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2009

Comprehensive income

Net income

Realized gain on marketable securities

reclassified into earnings net of tax

Comprehensive income

Issuance of Stock

Issuance of shares for options

exercised including tax benefit

Issuance of restricted stock

Shares received in lieu of tax

withholding payment on vested

restricted stock

Thx benefit from vesting of restricted

stock

Forfeiture of unvested restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Dividends

Share repurchase

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2010

Comprehensive income

Net income loss

Realized gain on marketable securities

reclassified into earnings net of tax

Comprehensive income

Issuance of Stock

Issuance of shares for options

exercised including tax benefit

Issuance of restricted stock

Shares received in lieu of tax

withholding payment on vested

restricted stock

Dx benefit from vesting of restricted

stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Dividends

Share repurchase

Acquisition of EAS
Contribution from noncontrolling

interest

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2011

Accumulated

Other Retained Non-

Comprehensive Earnings Controlling

Income Loss Deficit Interests

$326 $l5166

34182 34182

145 145

354700 3815 1626 2189

241857 2652 2652

45779 459 459

124

3454

5555 7290
12584

t3461 305984

t4740 14740

181

124

15193 165 165

3454

1735
1211800 12584

411 3129460 33810 326103 181

181

41123365

183686 1982 875 1107

235122 2864 2614 250

50575 616 616

106 106

5610 60 60

3687 3687

7581 758t
454938 5074 5074

41123365 411 3221775 34714 326467 20620 312784

36830 338 36492

50793 662 662

54 54

3604 3604

3771 3781 7552
738590 7256 7256

17377 17377

800 800

41123365 8411 3714506 839437 8323608 519991 $18515 $283106

65950 707 258 449

230702 2488 2488

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 2008

Comprehensive
income

Net income

Realized gain on marketable securities

reclassified into earnings net of tax

Common Stock

Comprehensive

Income Loss Shares Amount

41123365 $411

lIeasury Stock
Additional

Shares Amount Capital

2453245 827069 $328621

Total

Stockholders

Equity

$286471

34182

145

34327

14740

181

$14921

$36492

$36492
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In Thousands

21477
5426

2402

29680

8666
717

156

2000

29957

35750

14387
517

7520
7256

662
210

293

800

29039

35109

86346

51237

13405

1034

1469
3985

813

47

12684
7056

299

32149

7089
1381

1514

3925

42732

43001

17749
896

7530
5074

616
740

473

30652

41504

127850

86346

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

2009

34182

75

3475

10024

3283

3151

108

106

3454

47738

1697

2043

271
480

22889
32395

1162

54251

9457
770

494

4000

14629

18822

6341

7271
12584

459
641

1420

24594

10835

117015

$127850

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010

$36492 14740

723
181

7462 6217

12591 11225

58922 5734

936 364

9525 3484
226 157

239 525
5528 1574
3604 3687

10390

270
977

4162

917

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income loss including noncontrolling interests

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Gain loss on disposition of discontinued operation

Write-off of debt financing costs

Amortization of identifiable intangible assets

Depreciation expense
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments

Bad debt expense

Deferred tax expense benefit

Amortization of debt financing costs

Gain on sale of assets

Changes in the fair value of contingent earn-out obligations

Stock-based compensation expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions and

divestituresIncrease decrease in
Receivables net

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings

Other noncurrent assets

Increase decrease in
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings

Thxes paid related to pre-acquisition equity transactions of an acquired company
Other long-term liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Proceeds from businesses sold

Sales of marketable securities

Cash paid for acquisitions earn-outs and intangible assets net of cash acquired

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net borrowings on revolving line of credit

Payments on other long-term debt

Debt financing costs

Payments of dividends to shareholders

Share repurchase program
Shares received in lieu of tax withholding

Excess tax benefit of stock-based compensation

Proceeds from exercise of options

Capital contribution from noncontrolling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

NET INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS beginning of yearcontinuing operations and

discontinued operations

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS end of yearcontinuing operations and

discontinued operations
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2011

Business and Organization

Comfort Systems USA Inc Delaware corporation provides comprehensive heating ventilation

and air conditioning HVAC installation maintenance repair
and replacement services within the

mechanical services industry We operate primarily in the commercial industrial and institutional

HVAC markets and perform most of our services within office buildings retail centers apartment

complexes manufacturing plants and healthcare education and government facilities In addition to

standard HVAC services we provide specialized applications such as building automation control

systems fire protection process cooling electronic monitoring and process piping Certain locations

also perform related activities such as electrical service and plumbing Approximately 43% of our

consolidated 2011 revenues are attributable to installation of systems in newly constructed facilities

with the remaining 57% attributable to maintenance repair and replacement services The following

service activities account for our consolidated 2011 revenues HVAC 74% plumbing 16% building

automation control systems 4% and other 6% These service activities are within the mechanical

services industry which is the single industry segment we serve

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America The accompanying consolidated financial statements include

our accounts and those of our subsidiaries in which we have controlling interest All significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in prior period financial statements to conform to current

period presentation These reclassifications are of normal and recurring nature and have not resulted

in any changes to previously reported net income for any periods

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

requires the use of estimates and assumptions by management in determining the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities revenues and expenses and disclosures regarding contingent assets and liabilities

Actual results could differ from those estimates The most significant estimates used in our financial

statements affect revenue and cost recognition for construction contracts the allowance for doubtful

accounts self-insurance accruals deferred tax assets warranty accruals fair value accounting for

acquisitions and the quantification of fair value for reporting units in connection with our goodwill

impairment testing

Cash Flow Information

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or

less to be cash equivalents
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Cash paid in thousands for

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Interest $1720 $1215 $1211
Income taxes for continuing operations 1621 9036 39041
Income taxes for discontinued operations 17

Total $3341 $10251 $40269

Revenue Recognition

Approximately 83% of our revenue was earned on project basis and recognized through the

percentage of completion method of accounting Under this method contract revenue recognizable at

any time during the life of contract is determined by multiplying expected total contract revenue by
the percentage of contract costs incurred at any time to total estimated contract costs More

specifically as part of the negotiation and bidding process
in connection with obtaining installation

contracts we estimate our contract costs which include all direct materials exclusive of rebates labor

and subcontract costs and indirect costs related to contract performance such as indirect labor

supplies tools repairs and depreciation costs These contract costs are included in our results of

operations under the caption Cost of Services Then as we perform under those contracts we

measure costs incurred compare them to total estimated costs to complete the contract and recognize

corresponding proportion of contract revenue Labor costs are considered to be incurred as the work
is performed Subcontractor labor is recognized as the work is performed but is generally subjected to

approval as to milestones or other evidence of completion Non-labor project costs consist of purchased

equipment prefabricated materials and other materials Purchased equipment on our projects is

substantially produced to job specifications and is value added element to our work The costs are

considered to be incurred when title is transferred to us which typically is upon delivery to the work

site Prefabricated materials such as ductwork and piping are generally performed at our shops and

recognized as contract costs when fabricated for the unique specifications of the job Other materials

costs are not significant and are generally recorded when delivered to the work site This measurement

and comparison process requires updates to the estimate of total costs to complete the contract and

these updates may include subjective assessments

We generally do not incur significant costs prior to receiving contract and therefore these costs

are expensed as incurred In limited circumstances when significant pre-contract costs are incurred

they are deferred if the costs can be directly associated with specific contract and if their

recoverability from the contract is probable Upon receiving the contract these costs are included in

contract costs Deferred costs associated with unsuccessful contract bids are written off in the period

that we are informed that we will not be awarded the contract

Project contracts typically provide for schedule of billings or invoices to the customer based on

reaching agreed upon milestones or as we incur costs The schedules for such billings usually do not

precisely match the schedule on which costs are incurred As result contract revenue recognized in

the statement of operations can and usually does differ from amounts that can be billed or invoiced to
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

the customer at any point during the contract Amounts by which cumulative contract revenue

recognized on contract as of given date exceed cumulative billings to the customer under the

contract are reflected as current asset in our balance sheet under the caption Costs and estimated

earnings in excess of billings Amounts by which cumulative billings to the customer under contract

as of given date exceed cumulative contract revenue recognized on the contract are reflected as

current liability in our balance sheet under the caption Billings in excess of costs and estimated

earnings

The percentage of completion method of accounting is also affected by changes in job

performance job conditions and final contract settlements These factors may result in revisions to

estimated costs and therefore revenue Such revisions are frequently based on further estimates and

subjective assessments The effects of these revisions are recognized in the period in which the revisions

are determined When such revisions lead to conclusion that loss will be recognized on contract

the full amount of the estimated ultimate loss is recognized in the period such conclusion is reached

regardless of the percentage of completion of the contract

Revisions to project costs and conditions can give rise to change orders under which the customer

agrees to pay additional contract price Revisions can also result in claims we might make against the

customer to recover project variances that have not been satisfactorily addressed through change orders

with the customer Except in certain circumstances we do not recognize revenues or margin based on

change orders or claims until they have been agreed upon with the customer The amount of revenue

associated with unapproved change orders and claims is currently immaterial

Variations from estimated project costs could have significant impact on our operating results

depending on project size and the recoverability of the variation via additional customer payments

Revenue associated with maintenance repair and monitoring services and related contracts are

recognized as services are performed

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable include amounts billed to customers under retention or retainage provisions in

construction contracts Such provisions are standard in our industry and usually allow for small

portion of progress billings or the contract price to be withheld by the customer until after we have

completed work on the project typically for period of six months Based on our experience with

similar contracts in recent years the majority of our billings for such retention balances at each balance

sheet date are finalized and collected within the subsequent year Retention balances at December 31
2011 and 2010 are $51.7 million and $40.8 million respectively and are included in accounts receivable

The carrying value of our receivables net of the allowance for doubtful accounts represents the

estimated net realizable value We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the

creditworthiness of our customers prior collection history ongoing relationships with our customers

the aging of past due balances our lien rights if any in the property where we performed the work

and the availability if any of payment bonds applicable to the contract The receivables are written off

when they are deemed to be uncollectible
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Inventories

Inventories consist of parts and supplies that we purchase and hold for use in the ordinary course

of business and are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in first-out method

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciation is computed using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets Leasehold improvements are capitalized and

amortized over the lesser of the expected life of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred Expenditures for

major renewals and betterments which extend the useful lives of existing equipment are capitalized

and dpreciated over the remaining useful life of the equipment Upon retirement or disposition of

property and equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts

and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in Gain on sale of assets in the statement of operations

Recoverability of Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired

businesses We assess goodwill for impairment each year and more frequently if circumstances suggest

an impairment may have occurred

When the carrying value of given reporting unit exceeds its fair value an impairment loss is

recorded to the extent that the implied fair value of the goodwill of the reporting unit is less than its

carrying value If other reporting units have had increases in fair value such increases may not be

recorded Accordingly such increases may not be netted against impairments at other reporting units

The requirements for assessing whether goodwill has been impaired involve market-based information

This information and its use in assessing goodwill entails some degree of subjective assessment

We currently perform our annual impairment testing as of October and any impairment charges

resulting from this process are reported in the fourth quarter We segregate our operations into

reporting units based on the degree of operating and financial independence of each unit and our

related management of them We perform our annual goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit

level

In the evaluation of goodwill for impairment we have the option to first assess qualitative factors

to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances lead to determination that it is more

likely than not that the fair value of one of our reporting units is greater than its carrying value If

after completing such assessment we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of

reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount then there is no need to perform any further testing

If we conclude otherwise then we perform the first step of two-step impairment test by calculating

the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing the fair value with the carrying value of the

reporting unit

We estimate the fair value of the reporting unit based on two market approaches and an income

approach which utilizes discounted future cash flows Assumptions critical to the fair value estimates

under the discounted cash flow model include discount rates cash flow projections projected long-term
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growth rates and the determination of terminal values The market approaches utilized market

multiples of invested capital from comparable publicly traded companies public company approach

and comparable transactions transaction approach The market multiples from invested capital

include revenue book equity plus debt and earnings before interest taxes depreciation and

amortization EBITDA
We amortize identifiable intangible assets with finite lives over their useful lives Changes in

strategy and/or market condition may result in adjustments to recorded intangible asset balances

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are comprised principally of goodwill identifiable intangible assets property and

equipment and deferred income tax assets We periodically evaluate whether events and circumstances

have occurred that indicate that the remaining balances of these assets may not be recoverable We use

estimates of future Income from operations and cash flows as well as other economic and business

factors to assess the recoverability of these assets

Acquisitions

We recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations including contingent

assets and liabilities based on fair value estimates as of the date of acquisition

Contingent ConsiderationIn certain acquisitions we agree to pay additional amounts to sellers

contingent upon achievement by the acquired businesses of certain predetermined profitability targets

Beginning in 2009 we have recognized liabilities for these contingent obligations
based on their

estimated fair value at the date of acquisition with any differences between the acquisition date fair

value and the ultimate settlement of the obligations being recognized in income from operations For

acquisitions prior to 2009 these obligations are recognized as incurred and accounted for as an

adjustment to the initial purchase price of the acquired assets

Contingent Assets and LiabilitiesAssets and liabilities arising from contingencies are recognized at

their acquisition date fair value when their respective fair values can be determined If the fair values

of such contingencies cannot be determined they are recognized at the acquisition date if the

contingencies are probable and an amount can be reasonably estimated Acquisition date fair value

estimates are revised as necessary if and when additional information regarding these contingencies

becomes available to further define and quantify assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Set/Insurance Liabilities

We are substantially self-insured for workers compensation employers liability auto liability

general liability and employee group health claims in view of the relatively high per-incident

deductibles we absorb under our insurance arrangements for these risks Losses up to deductible

amounts are estimated and accrued based upon known facts historical trends and industry averages

Loss estimates associated with the larger and longer-developing risksworkers compensation auto

liability and general liabilityare reviewed by third-party actuary quarterly Our self-insurance

arrangements are further discussed in Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies
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Warranty Costs

We typically warrant labor for the first year after installation on new HVAC systems We generally

warrant labor for thirty days after servicing of existing HVAC systems reserve for warranty costs is

estimated and recorded based upon the historical level of warranty claims and managements estimate

of future costs

Income Taxes

We are subject to income tax in the United States and Puerto Rico and file consolidated return

for federal income tax purposes Income taxes are provided for under the liability method which takes

into account differences between financial statement treatment and tax treatment of certain

transactions

Deferred income taxes are based on the difference between the financial reporting and tax basis of

assets and liabilities The deferred income tax provision represents the change during the reporting

period in the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities net of the effect of acquisitions and

dispositions Deferred tax assets include tax loss and credit carry-forwards and are reduced by

valuation allowance if based on available evidence it is more likely than not that some portion or all

of the deferred tax assets will not be realized

We regularly evaluate valuation allowances established for deferred tax assets for which future

realization is uncertain We perform this evaluation quarterly Estimations of required valuation

allowances include estimates of future taxable income The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent upon the generation of future taxable income Juring the periods in which the activity

underlying these assets becomes deductible We consider projected future taxable income and tax

planning strategies in making this assessment If actual future taxable income is less than the estimates

we may not realize all or portion of the recorded deferred tax assets

Significant judgment is required in assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable

items We establish reserves when despite our belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable

we believe that certain positions may be challenged and potentially disallowed When facts and

circumstances change we adjust these reserves through our provision for income taxes

To the extent interest and penalties may be assessed by taxing authorities on any underpayment of

income tax such amounts have been accrued and are classified as component of income tax expense
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations

Segment Disclosure

Our activities are within the mechanical services industry which is the single industry segment we

serve Each operating subsidiary represents an operating segment and these segments have been

aggregated as the operating units meet all of the aggregation criteria

Concentrations of Credit Risk

We provide services in broad range of geographic regions Our credit risk primarily consists of

receivables from variety of customers including general contractors property owners and developers
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and commercial and industrial companies We are subject to potential credit risk related to changes in

business and economic factors throughout the United States within the nonresidential construction

industry However we are entitled to payment for work performed and have certain lien rights in that

work Further we believe that our contract acceptance billing and collection policies are adequate to

manage potential credit risk We regularly review our accounts receivable and estimate an allowance for

uncollectible amounts We have diverse customer base with no single customer accounting for more

than 2% of consolidated 2011 revenues

Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable other

receivables accounts payable notes to former owners and revolving credit facility We believe that

the carrying values of these instruments on the accompanying balance sheets approximate their fair

values

Fair Value Measurements

We classify and disclose assets and liabilities carried at fair value in one of the following three

categories

Level 1quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level 2observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by

market data and

Level 3significant unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists therefore

requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions

The following table summarizes the fair values and levels within the fair value hierarchy in which

the fair value measurements fall for assets and liabilities measured on recurring basis as of

December 31 2011 in thousands

Fair Value Measurements at

Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable

Balance Assets Inputs Inputs

December 31 2011 Level Level Level

Cash and cash equivalents $51237 $51237

Contingent earn-out obligations 2488 $2488

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of highly rated money market funds at variety of

well-known institutions with original maturities of three months or less The original cost of these assets

approximates fair value due to their short term maturity

As of December 31 2010 our marketable securities consisted of $2.0 million of auction rate

securities which are variable rate debt instruments having long-term maturities with final maturities

up to June 2032 We sold the entire $2.0 million of these auction rate securities Level during the

first quarter of 2011 at face value
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We value contingent earn-out obligations using probability weighted discounted cash flow

method This fair value measurement is based on significant unobservable inputs in the market and

thus represents Level measurement within the fair value hierarchy This analysis reflects the

contractual terms of the purchase agreements e.g minimum and maximum payments length of

earn-out periods manner of calculating any amounts due etc and utilizes assumptions with regard to

future cash flows probabilities of achieving such future cash flows and discount rate The contingent

earn-out obligations are measured at fair value each reporting period and changes in estimates of fair

value are recognized in earnings

The table below presents reconciliation of the fair value of our contingent earn-out obligations

that use significant unobservable inputs Level

December 31 December 31
2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year 7466 2380
Issuances See Note 550 6660

Adjustments to fair value 5528 1574
Balance at end of year 2488 7466

We measure certain assets at fair value on nonrecurring basis These assets are recognized at fair

value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired During the year ended

December 31 2011 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $57.3 million and an intangible asset

impairment charge of $1.6 million based on Level measurements See Note Goodwill and

Identifiable Intangible Assets Net for further discussion We did not recognize any other impairments

on those assets required to be measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis

Acquisitions

Description of 2ansaction

On November 2011 we acquired 60% majority interest in Environmental Air Systems LLC

EAS EAS is regional mechanical contractor with principal offices in Greensboro and Raleigh
North Carolina EAS engages in broad range of mechanical contracting projects HVAC service and

controls and sophisticated prefabrication of mechanical systems in North Carolina South Carolina and

throughout the Atlantic region The Companys consolidated statements of operations since the

acquisition date include revenue of $18.2 million and pre-tax income attributable to Comfort Systems of

$0.5 million
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Fair Value

The following summarizes the acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred

noncontrolling interest identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed including an amount for

goodwill in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents
252

Receivables 32467

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 4677

Other current assets 1252

Property and equipment 2790

Other non-current assets 2168

Goodwill 15672

Identifiable intangible assets 16200

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 20581

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 2882
Other long-term liabilities 4228

Noncontrolling interest 17377

Total purchase price 30410

The total purchase price was $30.4 million including $27.6 million in cash $2.3 million future

payment to the owners of the noncontrolling interest and $0.6 million contingent earn-out obligation

The future payment to the owners of the noncontrolling interest is payable two years after the

acquisition date

The contingent earn-out obligation is based upon exceeding specified earnings milestones each

year during three-year period and the range of estimated milestone payments is from zero to

$7 million undiscounted We determined the initial fair value of the contingent earn-out obligation

based on probability weighted income approach which represents Level measurement The

resulting probability-weighted cash flows were discounted using 10% discount rate which we believe

is appropriate and representative of market participant assumption We measure the contingent

earn-out obligation at fair value each reporting period and changes in the estimated fair value of the

contingent payments are recognized in earnings

Goodwill represents
the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired that could not

be individually identified and separately recognized All of the goodwill recognized as result of this

transaction is tax deductible
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The acquired intangible assets include the following in thousands

Valuation Estimated Estimated

Method Amortization Life Value

Backlog Excess earnings year 1100
Customer relationships Excess earnings 15

years 9700
frade name Relief-from-royalty 15 25

years 5400

Total acquired intangible assets $16200

In estimating the fair value of the acquired intangible assets we utilized the valuation methodology

determined to be the most appropriate for the individual intangible asset In order to estimate the fair

value of the backlog and customer relationships we utilized an excess earnings methodology which

consisted of the projected cash flows attributable to these assets discounted to present value using

risk-adjusted discount rate that represented the required rate of return The trade name value was

determined based on the relief-from-royalty method which applies royalty rate to the revenue stream

attributable to this asset and the resulting royalty payment is tax effected and discounted to present

value Some of the more significant estimates and assumptions inherent in determining the fair value of

the identifiable intangible assets are associated with forecasting cash flows and profitability which

represent Level inputs The primary assumptions used were generally based upon the present value of

anticipated cash flows discounted at rates ranging from 11%-18% Estimated
years

of projected

earnings generally follow the range of estimated remaining useful lives for each intangible asset class

The fair value of the 40% noncontrolling interest in EAS is estimated to be $17.4 million The fair

value of the noncontrolling interest was estimated using an income approach The fair value

measurement is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represents

Level measurement The fair value estimate is based on discount rate of approximately 15%
long-term sustainable growth rates of approximately 3% and adjustments for lack of control and lack of

marketability that market participants would consider when estimating the fair value of the

noncontrolling interest in EAS

Our consolidated balance sheets include preliminary allocations of the purchase price to the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimates of fair value pending completion of final valuation

and purchase price adjustments

Acquisition of Colonial Webb

On July 28 2010 we entered into stock purchase agreement to purchase all of the issued and

outstanding stock of ColonialWebb Contractors Company ColonialWebb ColonialWebb operates as

comprehensive single-source construction service manufacturing and refrigeration service firm

servicing the Mid-Atlantic region ColonialWebb is headquartered in Richmond Virginia with seven

other locations The acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred was $110.3 million of which

$49.9 million was allocated to goodwill See Note Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets Net
for discussion of the goodwill impairment of ColonialWebb recorded during 2011
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Other Acquisitions

We completed various acquisitions from 2009 to 2011 which were not material individually or in

the aggregate and were tucked-in with existing operations Our consolidated balance sheet includes

preliminary allocations of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on

estimates of fair value pending completion of final valuation and purchase price adjustments The

results of operations of acquisitions are included in our consolidated financial statements from their

respective acquisition dates Additional contingent purchase price earn-out has been or will be paid

if certain acquisitions achieve predetermined profitability targets The total purchase price for these

acquisitions including earn-outs was $2.9 million in 2011 $4.8 million in 2010 and $20.2 million in

2009

59



COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

December 31 2011

Discontinued Operations

We sold small operating company in June 2009 This companys after-tax loss of $0.3 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 has been reported in discontinued operations under Operating

loss net of income tax benefit We recorded an estimated loss on the sale of this company of

$1.0 million in 2009 During 2010 we recorded an income tax benefit of $0.3 million related to the

adjustment of certain valuation allowances related to this discontinued operation In addition during

2010 we recorded gain of $0.2 million related to settlement with the former owner of the company
which was offset by income tax expense of $0.2 million This has been reported in discontinued

operations under Gain loss on disposition of discontinued operation net of income tax expense

Sale of Companies to EmcorWe sold 19 operations to Emcor Group Inc Emcor in 2002

The total purchase price was $186.25 million including the assumption by Emcor of approximately

$22.1 million of subordinated notes to former owners of certain of the divested companies Of Emcors

purchase price $5 million was deposited into an escrow account to secure potential obligations on our

part to indemnify Emcor for future claims and contingencies arising from events and circumstances

prior to closing all as specified in the transaction documents Of this escrow $4 million has been

applied in determining our liability to Emcor in connection with the settlement of certain claims The

remaining $1 million of escrow was disbursed to us in March 2010

There are ongoing open matters relating to this transaction that we continue to address with

Emcor We do not believe these open matters either individually or in the aggregate will have

material adverse effect on our financial position when ultimately resolved During 2009 we recorded

gain of $0.8 million based upon review of open matters In connection with the final escrow release

in 2010 we recorded an additional gain of $0.5 million net of income tax expense of $0.3 million

based upon further review of open matters These amounts are included in discontinued operations

under Gain loss on disposition of discontinued operation net of income tax expense

Our consolidated statements of operations and the related earnings per share amounts have been

restated to reflect the effects of the discontinued operations No interest expense is allocated to

discontinued operations

Revenue and
pre-tax

loss related to discontinued operations are as follows in thousands

Year Ended
December 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenue $1795

Pre-tax loss 520
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Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows in thousands

December 31 December 31
2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year $147818 $100194

Additions See Note 16629 53358

Impairment adjustment 57354 5734

Balance at end of year $107093 $147818

We perform our annual impairment testing on October or more frequently if events and

circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred As discussed in Note Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies we first perform qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely

than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount If so we perform

quantitative assessment and compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying value

During the third quarter of 2011 and prior to our annual impairment testing on October we

concluded that impairment indicators existed at four reporting units serving the Virginia Maryland and

North Carolina markets including ColonialWebb based upon year to date results and recent forecasts

Significant declines in year to date revenues and operating margins through the summer months when

the demand for new installation and replacement services is generally higher caused us to revise our

expectations in our financial models for these reporting units

The fair value of each reporting unit was estimated using discounted cash flow model combined

with market valuation approaches We assigned weighting of 50% to the discounted cash flow analysis

and 50% to the public company approach There was no weighting assigned to the transaction

approach due to the lack of comparable market data in 2011 The material assumptions used for the

income approach included eighted average cost of capital of 13% and long-term growth rate of

2-3% These reporting units had total goodwill balance of $75.7 million The combined implied fair

value was less than the combined carrying value of goodwill and we recorded non-cash goodwill

impairment charge of $55.1 million

We previously disclosed that our assessment of the goodwill impairment charge was preliminary

During the fourth quarter we adjusted our estimate of the weighted average cost of capital for our

Maryland reporting unit to 19% which resulted in an additional impairment charge for the remaining

$2.2 million of goodwill

Under the income approach which is weighted 50% one percentage point increase in the

discount rate and one percentage point decrease in the long-term growth rate would have decreased

the fair value of each of these reporting units ranging from $0.1 million to $1.8 million Under the

public company market approach which has weighting of 50% 10% decrease in the market

approach multiples would have decreased the fair value of each of these reporting units by $0.2 million

to $2.5 million

During our annual impairment testing on October we performed the qualitative assessment

described above for the remaining 21 reporting units that have goodwill balance Based on this
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assessment we concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of each of the reporting

units was greater than its carrying amount Accordingly no further testing was required In making this

determination we considered changes in the carrying value of the reporting unit forecasted operating

results long-term growth rates and discount rates Additionally we considered qualitative key events

and circumstances i.e changes in the competitive environment cost factors etc.

During 2010 and 2009 the fair value of each reporting unit was estimated using discounted cash

flow model combined with market valuation approaches We assigned weighting of 50% to the

discounted cash flow analysis 40% to the public company approach and 10% to the transaction

approach for the year ended December 31 2010 We assigned weighting of 40% to the discounted

cash flow analysis and 60% to the public company approach for the year ended December 31 2009

There was no weighting assigned to the transaction approach due to the lack of comparable market

data in 2009 We recorded goodwill impairment of $5.7 million during 2010 related to our Delaware

location There was no impairment of goodwill as result of our annual goodwill impairment test in

2009 We also did not encounter any events or changes in circumstances that indicated that an

impairment was more likely than not during interim periods in 2009

There are significant inherent uncertainties and management judgment involved in estimating the

fair value of each reporting unit While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions

to estimate the fair value of our reporting units it is possible that material change could occur If

actual results are not consistent with our current estimates and assumptions or the current economic

downturn worsens or the projected recovery is significantly delayed beyond our projections goodwill

impairment charges may be recorded in future periods

Identifiable Intangible Assets Net

Identifiable intangible assets consist of the following dollars in thousands

Estimated
December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Useful Lives Gross Book Accumulated Gross Book Accumulated

in Years Value Amortization Value Amortization

Customer relationships 15 $36351 9880 $25948 5378
Backlog 5890 4999 4740 4253
Noncompete agreements 2890 1932 3490 1710
Tradenames 25 23370 3341 19570 2791

Total $68501 $20152 $53748 $14132

As discussed in Note we acquired $16.2 million of intangible assets related to the acquisition of

EAS

The amounts attributable to customer relationships noncompete agreements and tradenames are

being amortized to Selling General and Administrative Expenses on pattern of economic benefit or

straight-line method over periods from two to twenty-five years The amounts attributable to backlog

are being amortized to Cost of Services on proportionate method over the remaining backlog

period Amortization expense for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $7.5 million

$6.2 million and $3.5 million respectively
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At December 31 2011 future amortization expense of identifiable intangible assets is as follows

in thousands

Year ended December 31
2012 7859

2013 6397

2014 5457

2015 4358

2016 3336

Thereafter 20942

Total $48349

We recorded an intangible asset impairment of $1.6 million during 2011 This impairment charge

resulted from our estimation that the carrying value may not be fully recoverable at our operating

location in Delaware

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following dollars in thousands

Estimated

Useful Lives
December 31

in Years 2011 2010

Land 2282 2282

fransportation equipment 34991 30964

Machinery and equipment 15 21482 19550

Computer and telephone equipment 17587 16740

Buildings and leasehold improvements 40 23612 22853

Furniture and fixtures 10 4913 4764

104867 97153

LessAccumulated depreciation 62854 53533

Property and equipment net 42013 43620

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $12.6 million

$11.2 million and $10.0 million respectively
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Activity in our allowance for doubtful accounts consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year

Additions for bad debt expense

Deductions for uncollectible receivables written off net

of recoveries

Allowance for doubtful accounts of acquired companies

at date of acquisition

Balance at end of year

Other current liabilities consist of the following in thousands

Accrued warranty costs

Accrued backcharges

Accrued job losses

Accrued rent and lease obligations

Accrued sales and use tax

Deferred revenue

Other current liabilities

Contracts in progress are as follows in thousands

$5096 7253 5250
936 364 3283

833 2699 1313

142 178 33

$5341 5096 7253

December 31

2011 2010

8363 9925

6489

2060 1670

2793 1158

1498 1500

1607 1692

11151 8382

$27472 $30816

December 31

2011

837288

54911

936766

44567

27163

71730

44567

2010

$1127688

202295

1366757

36774

26648

63422

36774

Costs incurred on contracts in progress

Estimated earnings net of losses

LessBillings to date

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
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Long-term debt obligations consist of the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

.$
2700 3000

12681 26936

15381 29936

632 1267

$14749 $28669

At December 31 2011 future principal payments of long-term debt are as follows in thousands

243

622

226

$1886

287

447

338

$1699

632

650

12299

300

300

1200

$15381

127

462

108

$1202

Revolving Credit Facility

On September 23 2011 we amended our $125.0 million senior credit facility the Facility

provided by syndicate of banks The Facility which is available for borrowings and letters of credit

now expires in September 2016 and is secured by the capital stock of our current and future

subsidiaries As of December 31 2011 we had no outstanding borrowings $42.7 million in letters of

credit outstanding and $82.3 million of credit available

Revolving credit facility

Other debt

Notes to former owners

Total debt

Lesscurrent portion

Total long-term portion of debt

Year ended December 31
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter
_______

Interest expense included the following primary elements in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Interest expense on notes to former owners 795 627 505

Interest expense on borrowings and unused commitment

fees

Letter of credit fees

Amortization of debt financing costs
_____ _____ _____

Total
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Collateral

common practice in our industry is the posting of payment and performance bonds with

customers These bonds are offered by financial institutions known as sureties and provide assurance to

the customer that in the event we encounter significant financial or operational difficulties the surety

will arrange for the completion of our contractual obligations and for the payment of our vendors on

the projects subject to the bonds In cooperation with our lenders we granted our sureties first lien

on assets such as receivables costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings and equipment

specifically identifiable to projects for which bonds are outstanding as collateral for potential

obligations under bonds As of December 31 2011 the amount of these assets was approximately

$76.3 million

Covenants and Restrictions

The Facility contains financial covenants defining various financial measures and the levels of these

measures with which we must comply Covenant compliance is assessed as of each quarter end Credit

Facility Adjusted EBITDA is defined under the Facility for financial covenant purposes as net earnings

for the four quarters ending as of any given quarterly covenant compliance measurement date plus the

corresponding amounts for interest expense income taxes depreciation and amortization

other non-cash charges and pre-acquisition results of acquired companies The following is

reconciliation of Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA to net income in thousands

Net loss including noncontrolling interests $36492
Income taxescontinuing operations 8172
Interest expense net 1758

Depreciation and amortization expense 20053

Stock compensation expense 3604

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments 58922

EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests 647
Pre-acquisition results of acquired companies as defined under the

Facility 17016

Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA 56042

The Facilitys principal financial covenants include

Leverage RatioThe Facility requires that the ratio of our Consolidated Total Indebtedness to

our Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA not exceed 3.00 through December 31 2013 2.75 through

June 30 2014 and 2.5 through maturity The leverage ratio as of December 31 2011 was 0.27

Fixed Charge Coverage RatioThe Facility requires that the ratio of Credit Facility Adjusted

EBITDA less non-financed capital expenditures tax provision dividends and amounts used to

repurchase stock to the sum of interest expense and scheduled principal payments of indebtedness

be at least 2.00 provided that the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio excludes stock

repurchases and the payment of dividends at any time that the Companys Net Leverage Ratio

does not exceed 2.0 through December 31 2013 1.5 through June 30 2014 and 1.0 through
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maturity Capital expenditures tax provision dividends and stock repurchase payments are defined

under the Facility for purposes of this covenant to be amounts for the four quarters ending as of

any given quarterly covenant compliance measurement date The fixed charge coverage ratio as of

December 31 2011 was 18.78

Other RestrictionsThe Facility permits acquisitions of up to $15.0 million per transaction

provided that the aggregate purchase price of such an acquisition and of acquisitions in the

preceding 12 month period does not exceed $30.0 million However these limitations only apply

when the Companys Net Leverage Ratio is equal to or greater than 2.0

While the Facilitys financial covenants do not specifically govern capacity
under the Facility if our

debt level under the Facility at quarter-end covenant compliance measurement date were to cause us

to violate the Facilitys leverage ratio covenant our borrowing capacity under the Facility and the

favorable terms that we currently have could be negatively impacted by the lenders

We are in compliance with all of our financial covenants as of December 31 2011

Interest Rates and Fees

There are two interest rate options
for borrowings under the Facility the Base Rate Loan Option

and the Eurodollar Rate Loan Option Under the Base Rate Loan Option the interest rate is

determined based on the highest of the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% the prime lending rate offered

by Wells Fargo Bank N.A or the one-month Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00% Under the Eurodollar Rate

Loan Option the interest rate is determined based on the one- to six-month Eurodollar Rate The

Eurodollar Rate corresponds very closely to rates described in various general business media sources

as the London Interbank Offered Rate or LIBOR Additional margins are then added to these rates

The additional margins are determined based on the ratio of our Consolidated Total Indebtedness as of

given quarter end to our Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA for the twelve months ending as of that

quarter end as defined in the credit agreement and shown below

The interest rates under the Facility are floating rates determined by the broad financial markets

meaning they can and do move up and down from time to time For illustrative purposes the following

are the respective
market rates as of December 31 2011 relating to interest options under the Facility

Base Rate Loan Option

Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% 0.58%

Wells Fargo Bank N.A Prime Rate 3.25%

One-month LIBOR plus 1.00% 1.30%

Eurodollar Rate Loan Option

One-month LIBOR 0.30%

Six-month LIBOR 0.81%
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Certain of our vendors require letters of credit to ensure reimbursement for amounts they are

disbursing on our behalf such as to beneficiaries under our self-funded insurance programs We have

also occasionally used letters of credit to guarantee performance under our contracts and to ensure

payment to our subcontractors and vendors under those contracts Our lenders issue such letters of

credit through the Facility letter of credit commits the lenders to pay specified amounts to the

holder of the letter of credit if the holder demonstrates that we have failed to perform specified

actions If this were to occur we would be required to reimburse the lenders for amounts they fund to

honor the letter of credit holders claim Absent claim there is no payment or reserving of funds by
us in connection with letter of credit However because claim on letter of credit would require

immediate reimbursement by us to our lenders letters of credit are treated as use of facility capacity

just the same as actual borrowings We have never had claim made against letter of credit that

resulted in payments by lender or by us and believe such claim is unlikely in the foreseeable future

Commitment fees are payable on the portion of the revolving loan capacity not in use for

borrowings or letters of credit at any given time Letter of credit fees and commitment fees are based

on the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated Total Indebtedness to

Credit Facility Adjusted EBITDA

2.50

Less than 0.75 0.75 to 1.25 1.25 to 2.00 2.00 to 2.50 or greater

Additional Per Annum Interest Margin Added

Under

Base Rate Loan Option 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75%

Eurodollar Rate Loan Option 1.75% 2.00% 2.25% 2.50% 2.75%

Letter of credit fees 1.30% 1.50% 1.70% 1.90% 2.10%

Commitment fees on any portion of the

Revolving Loan capacity not in use for

borrowings or letters of credit at any given

time 0.25% 0.30% 0.35% 0.45% 0.50%

We estimate that the interest rate applicable to the borrowings under the Facility would be

approximately 2.6% as of December 31 2011 We incurred approximately $0.5 million in financing and

professional costs in connection with the arrangement of the Facility These costs are amortized on

straight-line basis as non-cash charge to interest expense over the term of the Facility

Notes to Former Owners

We issued subordinated notes to the former owners of acquired companies as part of the

consideration used to acquire these companies These notes had an outstanding balance of

$12.7 million as of December 31 2011 of which $0.3 million is current and bear interest payable

annually at weighted average interest rate of 3.24%

68



COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Long-Term Debt Obligations Continued

Other Debt

December 31 2011

In conjunction with our acquisition of ColonialWebb we acquired $3.0 million of long-term debt

related to an industrial revenue bond associated with its office building and warehouse Currently

$2.7 million of this debt is outstanding We have included both the $0.3 million current portion and the

$2.4 million long-term portion on our balance sheet as of December 31 2011 The weighted average

interest rate on this variable rate debt as of December 31 2011 was approximately 0.25%

10 Income Taxes

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes relating to continuing operations consists of the following in
thousands

Current

Federal

State and Puerto Rico

Deferred

Federal

State and Puerto Rico

Income tax expense benefit at the statutory rate

Changes resulting from
State income taxes net of federal tax effect

Increase decrease in valuation allowance

Increase in contingency reserves

Non-deductible expenses

Production activity deduction

Goodwill impairment

Purchase accounting adjustments

Other

December 31

2011 2010 2009

230 7991 $14240

1123 1853 4046

1353 9844 18286

10307 537 4719

782 2947 1568

9525 3484 3151

8172 6360 $21437

The difference in income taxes provided for and the amounts determined by applying the federal

statutory tax rate to income before income taxes results from the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

$15632 $7132 $19612

2327 260 2384

3431 846 1025
28 95 153

268 455 500

391 699
9223

2992
171 345 512

8172 $6360 $21437
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Deferred income tax assets

Accounts receivable and allowance for

Deferred income tax assets

Prepaid expenses and other

Other noncurrent assets

Total deferred income tax assets

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities

Total deferred income tax liabilities

doubtful accounts .. 1958

4519

2583

20902

4604

1304

35870

5695
237

4762
2978

671

14343

3999

$17528

$19771

2626

$22397

328

4541

4869

1956

2338

24585

2976

1035

32890

5501
389

4136
7424
5956

914

24320

568

8002

$22975

3987

$26962

89

18871

$18960

10 Income 1xes Continued

Deferred Tax Assets Liabilities

Significant components of the net deferred tax assets and net deferred tax liabilities as reflected on

the balance sheet are as follows in thousands

Year Ended

December 31

2011 2010

Goodwill

Stock compensation

Accrued liabilities and expenses

State net operating loss carryforwards

Other

Total deferred income tax assets

Deferred income tax liabilities

Property and equipment

Long-term contracts

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Tax accounting method change Section 481

Other

Total deferred income tax liabilities

LessValuation allowance

Net deferred income tax assets

adjustments

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflected above are included in the consolidated

balance sheets as follows in thousands

December 31

2011 2010
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As of December 31 2011 we had $4.6 million of future tax benefits related to $99.6 million of

available state net operating loss carryforwards NOLs which expire between 2012 and 2031

valuation allowance of $4.0 million has been recorded against net deferred tax assets of state NOLs and

other state deferred tax assets We recorded an increase in valuation allowances of $3.4 million for the

year ended December 31 2011 deferred tax asset for state NOLs net of related valuation allowance

of $1.7 million reflects our conclusion that it is likely that this asset will be realized based upon

expected future earnings in certain subsidiaries We update this assessment of the realizability of

deferred tax assets relating to state net NOLs annually

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 approximately $0.5 million and $0.5 million respectively of

unrecognized tax benefits if recognized in future periods would impact our effective tax rate This

liability is included in Other Long-Term Liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets We do not

expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within

the next twelve months

We recognize potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax

expense We did not recognize any interest or penalties during the years
ended December 31 2011 and

2010 We had accrued approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the payment of interest and

penalties at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Our tax records are subject to review by the

Internal Revenue Service for the 2008 tax year forward and by various state authorities for the 2003 tax

year forward We are currently under examination for our U.S federal income taxes for the 2009 tax

year

Liabilities for Uncertain Tax Positions

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in

thousands

Year Ended

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year $696 634 $621

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 189

Additions for tax positions of prior years
134

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 127 97
Settlements 24

Balance at end of year $696 696 $634

11 Employee Benefit Plans

We and certain of our subsidiaries sponsor various retirement plans for most full-time and some

part-time employees These plans primarily consist of defined contribution plans The defined

contribution plans generally provide for contributions up to 2.5% of covered employees salaries or

wages These contributions totaled $5.1 million in 2011 $4.3 million in 2010 and $4.5 million in 2009
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Of these amounts approximately $0.5 million and $0.1 million were payable to the plans at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Certain of our subsidiaries also participate Or have participated in various multi-employer pension

plans for the benefit of employees who are union members As of December 31 2011 and 2010 we

had and employees respectively who were union members We are subject to unfunded pension

plan liability related to the withdrawal of one of our operating locations from multi-employer pension

plan We have accrued $0.2 million in anticipation of these liabilities as of December 31 2011 There

were no contributions made to multi-employer pension plans in 2011 2010 or 2009 The data available

from administrators of other multi-employer pension plans is not sufficient to determine the

accumulated benefit obligations nor the net assets attributable to the multi-employer plans in which

our employees participate or previously participated

12 Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We lease certain facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating leases Rent expense for

the
years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $13.0 million $13.3 million and $16.2 million

respectively We recognize escalating rental payments that are quantifiable at the inception of the lease

on straight-line basis over the lease term Concurrent with the acquisitions of certain companies we
entered into various agreements with previous owners to lease buildings used in our operations The

terms of these leases generally range from three to ten years and certain leases provide for escalations

in the rental expenses each year the majority of which are based on inflation Included in the 2011

2010 and 2009 rent expense above are approximately $3.2 million $2.7 million and $2.8 million of rent

paid to these related parties respectively

The following represents future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases

in thousands

Year ended December 31
2012 $10579

2013 9115

2014 6460

2015 4640

2016 3088

Thereafter 7264

$41146

Claims and Lawsuits

We are subject to certain legal and regulatory claims including lawsuits arising in the normal

course of business We maintain various insurance coverages to minimize financial risk associated with

these claims We have estimated and provided accruals for probable losses and related legal fees

associated with certain litigation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements While we
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cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings in managements opinion and based on reports of

counsel any liability arising from these matters individually and in the aggregate will not have

material effect on our operating results or financial condition after giving effect to provisions already

recorded

In December 2011 we received letter from Ferguson Enterprises Inc Ferguson distributor

of plumbing supplies and pipe in which Ferguson stated that it had unintentionally supplied us with

gaskets that were mislabeled by former supplier as being non-asbestos Ferguson currently states that

we bought approximately 29000 gaskets that might have been mislabeled Ferguson further disclosed

that four Ferguson customers had found asbestos in gaskets above the 1% level at which they can be

classified as non-asbestos No reasonable estimate of liability if any is possible at this time

In addition to the matters described above we had accrued $6.5 million as of December 31 2010

for potential and asserted backcharges from several customers of our multi-family operation based in

Texas During the third quarter of 2011 the Company reached an agreement related to certain

backcharges and this resulted in $4.8 million payment and $0.2 million recovery The additions and

reductions to the accrual were included in Cost of Services

The following table summarizes the backcharge activity for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year 6489 $6489 5838

Additions 600 2350

Cash payments net of recovery 4593 650
Non-cash reduction 2496 1049

Balance at end of year $6489 6489

Surety

Many customers particularly in connection with new construction require us to post performance

and payment bonds issued by financial institution known as surety If we fail to perform under the

terms of contract or to pay subcontractors and vendors who provided goods or services under

contract the customer may demand that the surety make payments or provide services under the bond

We must reimburse the surety for any expenses or outlays it incurs To date we are not aware of any

losses to our sureties in connection with bonds the sureties have posted on our behalf and do not

expect such losses to be incurred in the foreseeable future

Surety market conditions are currently challenging as result of significant losses incurred by many

sureties in recent periods both in the construction industry as well as in certain larger corporate

bankruptcies As result less bonding capacity is available in the market and terms have become more

restrictive Further under standard terms in the surety market sureties issue bonds on

project-by-project basis and can decline to issue bonds at any time Historically approximately 25% to

35% of our business has required bonds While we have strong surety relationships to support our
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bonding needs current market conditions as well as changes in the sureties assessment of our

operating and financial risk could cause the sureties to decline to issue bonds for our work If that were

to occur the alternatives include doing more business that does not require bonds posting other forms

of collateral for project performance such as letters of credit or cash and seeking bonding capacity

from other sureties We would likely also encounter concerns from customers suppliers and other

market participants as to our creditworthiness While we believe our general operating and financial

characteristics including significant amount of cash on our balance sheet would enable us to

ultimately respond effectively to an interruption in the availability of bonding capacity suØh an

interruption would likely cause our revenues and profits to decline in the near term

Se/lnsurance

We are substantially self-insured for workers compensation employers liability auto liability

general liability and employee group health claims in view of the relatively high per-incident

deductibles we absorb under our insurance arrangements for these risks Losses up to deductible

amounts are estimated and accrued based upon known facts historical trends and industry averages
Loss estimates associated with the larger and longer-developing risks such as workers compensation
auto liability and general liability are reviewed by third-party actuary quarterly

Our self-insurance arrangements currently are as follows

Workers CompensationThe per-incident deductible for workers compensation is $500000
Losses above $500000 are determined by statutory rules on state-by-state basis and are fully

covered by excess workers compensation insurance

Employers LiabilityFor employers liability the per incident deductible is $500000 We are

fully insured for the next $500000 of each loss and then have several layers of excess loss

insurance policies that cover losses up to $100 million in aggregate across this risk area as well as

general liability and auto liability noted below

General LiabilityFor general liability the per incident deductible is $500000 We are fully

insured for the next $1.5 million of each loss and then have several layers of excess loss insurance

policies that cover losses up to $100 million in aggregate across this risk area as well as

employers liability and auto liability noted below

Auto LiabilityFor auto liability the per incident deductible is $500000 We are fully insured

for the next $1.5 million of each loss and then have several layers of excess loss insurance policies

that cover losses up to $100 million in aggregate across this risk area as well as employers liability

and general liability noted above

Employee MedicalWe have two medical plans The deductible for employee group health

claims is $300000 per person per policy calendar year for one plan and $200000 per person per

policy calendar year for the other plan Insurance then covers any responsibility for medical

claims in excess of the deductible amount

Our $100 million of aggregate excess loss coverage above applicable per-incident deductibles

represents one policy limit that applies to all lines of risk we do not have separate $100 million

of excess loss coverage for each of general liability employers liability and auto liability
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Companies acquired may have self-insurance plan in place on the date of acquisition Generally

the acquired company will remain on separate policy until the end of the coverage period upon which

the acquired company will join the aforementioned self-insurance policy

13 Stockholders Equity

Long-Term Incentive Plan for Employees

In May 2006 our stockholders approved the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan the 2006 Plan which

provides for the granting of incentive or non-qualified stock options stock appreciation rights

restricted or deferred stock dividend equivalents or other incentive awards to directors employees and

consultants The number of shares authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan is

3200000 shares As of December 31 2011 there were 1.0 million shafes available for issuance under

this plan The 2006 Plan will expire in May 2016

Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan

In May 2008 our stockholders approved our Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Compensation

Plan for Non-Employee Directors the 2006 Directors Plan which provides for the granting of

restricted stock to non-employee directors The number of shares authorized and reserved for issuance

under the 2006 Directors Plan is 300000 shares As of December 31 2011 there were 0.1 million

shares available for issuance under this plan The 2006 Directors Plan will expire in May 2016

Under the 2006 Directors Plan each participant who has served since at least the previous annual

meeting and is continuing in office and each newly elected non-employee director will be awarded an

award covering 10000 shares which will be the maximum number of shares of Common Stock subject

to awards that may be granted to any participant in the aggregate in any calendar year

Stock options were granted under the 2006 Directors Plan before it was amended in 2008 We
have never altered the price of any option after its grant

Share Repurchase Program

On March 29 2007 our Board of Directors the Board approved stock repurchase program

to acquire up to 1.0 million shares of our outstanding common stock During the fourth quarter of

2011 the Board approved an extension of the program to acquire up to an additional 1.0 million

shares Since the inception of the repurchase program the Board has approved 6.6 million shares to be

repurchased

The share repurchases will be made from time to time at our discretion in the open market or

privately negotiated transactions as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements and

subject to market conditions and other factors The Board may modify suspend extend or terminate

the program at any time We repurchased 0.7 million shares for the year ended December 31 2011 at

an average price of $9.83 per share Since the inception of the program in 2007 and as of

December 31 2011 we have repurchased cumulative total of 5.6 million shares at an average price of

$10.97 per share
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average

number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year Diluted EPS is computed considering

the dilutive effect of stock options and contingently issuable restricted stock The vesting of unvested

contingently issuable restricted stock is based on the achievement of certain earnings per share targets

These shares are considered contingently issuable shares for purposes of calculating diluted earnings

per share These shares are not included in the diluted earnings per share denominator until the

performance criteria are met if it is assumed that the end of the reporting period was the end of the

contingency period

Unvested restricted stock is included in diluted earnings per share weighted outstanding until the

shares vest Upon vesting the vested restricted stock is included in basic earnings per share weighted

outstanding from the vesting date

The effect of 0.2 million of common stock equivalents have been excluded from the calculation of

diluted EPS for the year ended December 31 2011 due to our net loss position in this period

Assuming dilution there were approximately 0.7 million 0.5 million and 0.5 million anti-dilutive stock

options exŁluded from the calculation of diluted EPS for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively

The following table reconciles the number of shares outstanding with the number of shares used in

computing basic and diluted earnings per share for each of the periods presented in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Common shares outstanding end of perioda 37050 37532 37625

Effect of using weighted average common shares

outstanding 339 17 421

Shares used in computing earnings per sharebasic 37389 37549 38046

Effect of shares issuable under stock option plans based

on the treasury stock method 241 360

Effect of contingently issuable restricted shares 45

Shares used in computing earnings per sharediluted 37389 37790 38451

Excludes 0.4 million shares of unvested contingently issuable restricted stock outstanding

for each of the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 see Note 14 Stock

Based Compensation
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We have various stock-based compensation plans which are administered by the compensation

committee of the Board of Directors Total stock-based compensation expense was $3.6 million

$3.7 million and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Total

income tax benefit recognized for stock-based compensation arrangements was $1.3 million for each of

the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 We present the benefits of tax deductions in excess

of recognized compensation costs excess tax benefits as financing cash flows in the consolidated

statements of cash flows

Upon the vesting of restricted shares we have allowed the holder to elect to surrender an amount

of shares to meet their minimum statutory tax withholding requirements These shares are accounted

for as treasury stock based upon the value of the stock on the date of vesting

Stock Options

The following table summarizes activity under our stock option plans shares in thousands

Year Ended December 31 _________

Stock Options

Outstanding at beginning of year

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Expired

Outstanding at end of year

Options exercisable at end of year

2009

Weighted-

Average
Shares Exercise Price

1365 6.39

177 $11.00

355 4.00

$11.00

1180 7.77

879

2011 2010

Weighted-

Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares

1061 9.58 1180

142 $13.87 146

66 4.46 184
12

81 4.82 69

1056 $10.84 1061

762 756

Weighted

Average
Exercise Price

7.77

$12.46

2.58

$12.32

2.88

9.58

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and

2009 was $0.5 million $1.8 million and $2.6 million respectively Stock options outstanding as of

December 31 2011 have weighted-average remaining contractual term of 6.0 years
and an aggregate

intrinsic value of $1.4 million Stock options exercisable as of December 31 2011 have weighted

average remaining contractual term of 5.0 years
and an aggregate intrinsic value of $1.4 million As of

December 31 2011 we have 1.0 million options that are vested or expected to vest these options have

weighted average exercise price of $10.81 per share have weighted-average remaining contractual

term of 6.0 years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $1.4 million
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31 2011

shares in thousands

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average
Number Remaining Weighted- Number Weighted

Outstanding Contractual Average Exercisable Average
Range of Exercise Prices at 12/31/11 Life Exercise Price at 12/31/11 Exercise Price

$1.90 $2.875 66 1.32 $1.97 66 $1.97
$3.39 $4.77 23 1.42 3.83 23 3.83

$6.38 $7.94 148 3.19 6.51 148 6.51

$11.00 $12.90 488 6.74 $11.85 337 $11.82

$13.15 $15.03 331 7.44 $13.54 188 $13.30

$1.90 $15.03 1056 6.01 $10.84 762 $10.06

The fair value of each option award is estimated based on several assumptions on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model The fair values and the assumptions used for the

2011 to 2009 grants are shown in the table below

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Weighted-average fair value per share of

options granted 5.04 4.61 4.06

Fair value assumptions

Expected dividend yield 1.70% 1.73% 1.53%

Expected stock price volatility 44.2% 44.4% 45.0%

Risk-free interest rate 2.24% 2.65% 1.80%

Expected term 5.3 years 5.3
years 5.3 years

Stock options are accounted for as equity instruments and compensation cost is recognized using

the straight-line method over the vesting period Stock options generally vest over three-year vesting

period Certain stock option and restricted stock awards provide for accelerated vesting if the employee
retires at any time when the sum of their age and years of service is at least 75 As of December 31
2011 the unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was $0.4 millionwhich is expected

to be recognized over weighted-average period of 1.8 years The total fair value of options vested

during the year ended December 31 2011 was $0.7 million
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The following table summarizes information about nonvested stock option awards as of

December 31 2011 and changes for the year ended December 31 2011 shares in thousands

Weighted-Average
Grant Date

Stock Options Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31 2010 305 4.51

Granted 142 5.04

Vested 153 4.60

Forfeited

Nonvested at December 31 2011 294 4.71

We generally issue treasury shares for stock options and restricted stock unless treasury shares are

not available

Restricted Stock

The following table summarizes activity under our restricted stock plans shares in thousands

Shares

Restricted Stock 2011 2010 2009

Unvested at beginning of year 312 300 284

Granted 231 245 217

Vested 241 228 198
Forfeited

Unvested at end of year 302 312 300

Approximately $1.6 million of compensation expense related to restricted stock will be recognized

over weighted-average period of 0.9 years The total fair value of shares vested during year ended

December 31 2011 was $2.9 million The weighted-average fair value per share of restricted stock

shares awarded during 2011 2010 and 2009 was $11.29 $12.26 and $11.40 respectively The aggregate

intrinsic value of restricted stock vested during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was

$2.6 million $3.0 million and $1.9 million respectively
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Quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 is summarized as

follows in thousands except per share data

2011

Qi Q2 Q3a Q4a

Revenue $282059 $312148 $328113 $317700
Gross profit 34209 47510 49108 50625
Operating income loss 8328 5601 $47461 820

Income loss from continuing operations 5170 3162 36569 2085
Discontinued operations

Operating loss net of tax

Gain loss on disposition net of tax

Net income loss including noncontrolling interests 5170 3162 36569 2085
Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 338

Net income loss attributable to Comfort Systems

USA Inc 5170 3162 $36569 1747
INCOME LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC
Basic

Income loss from continuing operations 0.14 0.08 0.98 0.05

Discontinued operations
Loss from

operations

Gain loss on disposition

Net income loss 0.14 0.08 0.98 0.05

Diluted

Income loss from continuing operations 0.14 0.08 0.98 0.05

Discontinued operations

Loss from operations

Gain loss on disposition

Net income loss 0.14 0.08 0.98 0.05

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 19066 4377 1478 51645

Included in income are goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges of $55.1 million in

the third
quarter and $3.8 million in the fourth

quarter of 2011
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2010

Qi Q2a Q3 Q4a

Revenue $236475 $249588 $307648 $314571
Gross profit 39508 41965 50309 56900
Operating income loss 2104 2376 8453 7109
Income loss from continuing operations 1165 1646 5410 5796
Discontinued operations

Operating loss net of tax

Gain loss on disposition net of tax 762 39
Net income loss including noncontrolling interests 1927 1646 5371 5796
Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income loss attributable to Comfort Systems

USA Inc 1927 1646 5371 5796
INCOME LOSS PER SHARE ATFRIBUTABLE TO

COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC
Basic

Income loss from continuing operations 0.03 0.04 0.14 0.15

Discontinued operations
Loss from operations

Gain loss on disposition 0.02

Net income loss 0.05 0.04 0.14 0.15

Diluted

Income loss from continuing operations 0.03 0.04 0.14 0.15

Discontinued operations

Loss from operations

Gain loss on disposition 0.02

Net income loss 0.05 0.04 0.14 0.15

Net cash provided by used in operating activities $11461 762 3772 46620

Included in income are goodwill impairment charges of $4.4 million in the second quarter and

$1.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2010

The sums of the individual quarterly earnings per share amounts do not necessarily agree with

year-to-date earnings per share as each quarters computation is based on the weighted average number
of shares outstanding during the quarter the weighted average stock price during the quarter and the

dilutive effects of options and contingently issuable restricted stock in each quarter
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our executive management is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the design and

operation of our disclosure controls and procedures We carried out an evaluation under the

supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

of the end of the period covered by this report Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded tht our disclosure controls and procedures as

defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are effective as of

the end of the period covered by this report

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Managements report on our internal controls over financial reporting can be found in Item of

this report The Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms Attestation Report on the

effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting can also be found in Item of this report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting as such term is

defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the three

months ended December 31 2011 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We have adopted code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer our principal

financial officer and our principal accounting officer as well as to our other employees This code of

ethics consists of our Corporate Compliance Policy The Company has made this code of ethics

available on our website as described in Item of this annual report on Form 10-K If we make

substantive amendments to this code of ethics or grant any waiver including any implicit waiver we

will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in report on Form 8-K within

four business days of such amendment or waiver

The other information called for by this item has been omitted in accordance with the instructions

to Form 10-K The Company will file with the Commission definitive proxy statement including the

other information to be disclosed under this item in the 120 days following December 31 2011 and

such information is hereby incorporated by reference

ITEMS 11 12 13 AND 14

These items have been omitted in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-K The Company

will file with the Commission definitive proxy statement including the information to be disclosed

under the items in the 120 daysfollowing December 31 2011 and such information is hereby

incorporated by reference
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PART1V

iTEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this annual report on Fonn 10-K

Consolidated Financial Statements Included Under Item The Index to the

Consolidated Financial Statements is included on page 41 of this annual report on Form 10-K and

is incorporated herein by reference

Financial Statement Schedules

None

Exhibits

Reference is made to the Index of Exhibits beginning on page 87 which is incorporated herein by

reference

Excluded financial statements

None
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized

Date February 29 2012

COMFORT SYSTEMS USA INC

By Is BRIAN

Brian Lane

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

by the following persons in the capacities and on the date indicated

Signature Title

Is BRIAN LANE

Brian Lane

Is WILLIMvI GEORGE

William George

/5/ JULIE SiiFF

Julie Shaeff
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President Chief Executive Officer and

Director

Principal Executive Officer
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Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

February 29 2012

February 29 2012

February 29 2012

February 29 2012

February 29 2012

February 29 2012
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Is ALAN KRUSI
Director Februaiy 29 2012

Alan Krusi

Is FRANKLIN MYERS
Director February 29 2012

Franklin Myers

Is JAMES SCHULTZ
Director February 29 2012

James Schultz

/s ROBERT WAGNER JR
Director February 29 2012

Robert Wagner Jr
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was another year in which our industry and the economy fought to rise from

ak fundamentals and challenging activity levels As we weicome 2012 we are

optimistic that market improvement is on the horizon and we are confident that sr hates er

conditions we may face our world class workforce and business are positioned to grow and succeed

Comfoi Systems USA was solidly profitable and achieved excellent free cash flow in

2011 Amid rurhulem we conrinued ro profit flow rash and grow tot al rrenue We earned

operating income excluding goodwill and other intangible asset pairments of $96 million

on revenue of $1.2 billion We had free cash flow from operations of $21.7 million made

significant investments for the future and ended the year with strong balance sheet Our

acquisition piogram remained active rr ith significant new in estments Finally we continued

to retuin money to stockholders by paying $7.5 million in dividends and continuing to reduce

our outstanding shares Thioughout 2011 we woi kcd to position ourselves for even greater

success when niatket conditions impros

banks to our workiorce and your confidence in its we were able to invest for the future

In the face of adversiry we increased our mnvestmenr in our workforce wirh more rraining

We made capital investments and mpros ccl our physical and techisologi al infi asrructure

We acquired exciting new businesses and invested in new capabilities We macic difficult

dec isions to exit and ationalize challenging situations We continued to build on our premier

sets ice offering We built trust with customers added new relationships and increased our

maiket share

in 2011 we presers ccl our core strengths and invested in our best opportunities We

belies that we ate well positioned for bright future

We were able to giow our total ncr enue to $1.2 billion in 2011 compared with $1.1 billion

in 2010 Fhis change reflects $115 mnilhon of resenue growth from acquisitions and despite

shi inking markets out same-store icr critic increased by $17 million The businesses that

comprise Comfort Systeiris USA hare held up well esen as unportanr markets have receded

and we expect significant growth when conditions improve and markets begin to niose hack

now ards historical actis
mty

lerels

ns the great ren cssion churned on and total nonresidential building an
tmviny

continued to

shrink we remained profitable During 2011 not including significant non-cash write off

of historical goodwill and other intangible assets Comfort Systems USA earned operating

income of $9.6 million compared with operating itseomne of $25.8 million in 2010 We also

had positise cash flow from operations of $29.7 million and we ended the year with no net

indebtedness for borrowed money





Our top piiorit in 2011 was to retain and develop the backbone and muscle of ComCrr

Sssrenss USA our people Fundamentalls our maiker offering is tht sers ices they perform

Then skill die stion and experience ire the reasons we deliver successful plojects and fulfil

expectations
In 2011 we incrcased the number and range

of our training classes core element

ot our siratecy is slent ioagemeoi
and team member development and we are totally

committed to making tinning excellence hallmark of Comfort stems USA We want

pn
ide out team members ss ith an oiderls and challenging work ens ironment the tools

to succeed md at cess to the best careei paths in our industt

We remain ommtttc to safets and in 2011 we achieved an OSI IA recordable incident

ate th at was 27% below the most rcccntls published OSHA tate for our industry In addition

oui Ost dime lntins Rate in Ui was 72% below the industry average We strms for every

srker who picks tip
tool or stcps to job site to he OSHA trained at the end of 2011

980o of our frontline field and shop workfoice had ret eived OSI IA trainug We believe that

the major of those ss lit
ioiIi oui tonipan experience satetyorienmed environment and

training be ond ant thing th0 prey moush expei icnced in our indusir

omnuiment to qualit and execution his tllowed Comfort Systems USA to avoid much of

the shrinkage experienced our indnsir in the last few years Customers and competirois

know that ss hen wc take on oh we ring in cxc clIent workforce financial strength and

an organhation with unmatched experience redihility and pemfoimance even more than

puce
and ielationships arc ciucial ingredients to success in our indtistr We constantly strive

to do the right thing when ti mes to oui usioniers and busniess pat rners

During 2011 ste made ins estm nrs rho expanded our business into new regional markets and

product lines In the fouith quarter of 2011 we entemed partnership svirh Fnv mronmental Air

5s stems leading company in North Carolina In addition to their top notch capabilities in

out tradition ml inaikets and remarkable md strong customer list Enviionmental An Systems

hi ings sew capabilities for cc nstrncting mechanical solutions aw av ftc is the job site and

delivet ing impros ed qualit speed of onsti uction and economic etficienc We believe that

in addition to the pialit ot the ins estment itself Ens ironmental stems and our existing

erations have gieat opporrunits to capture new business nnpmos efficmen and expand

the product offernag that ssc can delslo on national basis

also comstinued to make miens ml navestissents especiall us sers icc We hired top service

piotessionals extended exist nag sets icc training aiscl added new training programs to help our

ensplos ees sell manage and pet
form scm vice work profitahl We efined out service mamsagemnent

tools usc we put isew pioc es resources its place to help ciur be ml businesses grow
ant

mmpros

Pliese investnsents lowered out reported eartsings its 2011 bitt we are ccnfidetat they will help

to grow out sera ice offering and will gemserate significamst returns in tlse future





Our people and our organizarions focus much of their tremendous energ on helping our

customers and our economy conserve precious encrgs resources Da and night HVA
systr

ms

are the single largest consumer of energy in most buildings and the iin ortanee of proper

design optimization serswe and mainienan is onl incteasing We have significant energ

efficiencs expertise by virtue of our nation-wide Energs Sers ices opeiation and the design

engineermg management and production capabilities within our operations aross the SA

As national compan in fragmented industry we ire uniquely positioned to bring the best

capabilities and alue to our customers the seek to he prudent energy stewards

Poh
The last few sears hase been the roughest for our industry since we were founded When disaster

threatens some teams come apart In the face ol advcrsit the Comfort stems USA workforce

pulled together like never before As we write these words the skies appear to he brightening

how eser during the course of the great recession we has experienced few false dawns

Whateser the ondiiions may he in the coming quarters we heliese that Comfort Sstems USA

is posit toned to make the best of them Conditions will impros the only question is when

When thes do we feel onfident that we have the team resources and atti ihures to be an even

more significant fruce in oui industry

his is our sixteenth antiual report Some earlier editions were written during good times

hut most were drafted in the face of challenging conditions The Comfort Systems USA of today

has been tried and our operations have been knitted together by adsersitv and opportunits

Our e\peiiences have produced an excellent culture and salues that are now embedded in our

business and that we belies are the foundation for future success

Our ongoing ins estments are intended to pros ide salue growth ovei long time horizon

Our backlog is solid We expect that 2012 will he profitable year and we look forward

to bright future for Comfort Systems USA

We together with our thousands of team members in dozens of 1oc itions remain

committed to impros ing every aspect of our performance We are positioned to rise

Think you for your belief in us We will he here every day working to make Comfort

Ssstems USA better and more valuable

Rspectfully

Willtam Murdy Brian Lane illiam Eieomge

Chairman of the President and Executive \ice President and

Board of Directors hief Executive Officer Chief binancial Officer



On thousands except per
share amounts 2011 2010 2009

Revenue 1240020 $1108282 $1128901

Operating
income loss 49368 20042 56633

Net income loss from conimuing operations

attributable to Comfort Systems USA 36830 1401/ 34896

Net income loss from
continuing operations

attributable

to Comfort Systems USA
per

diluted share ft99 O3/ 090

Net income loss attributable to Comfort Systenis USA 36830 14740 34182

Net income loss attributable to Comfo Systems USA

per
diluted share 099 ft39 O89

Debt 15381 /996 /608

Stockholders
equity $283106 $312/84 $305984

Total assets 591066 $640020 55/4948



in thousands 2011 2010 2009

Net income from
conflnuing operafions

attiibutuble

to Comfort Systems USA 5660 6399 34596

Net income from confinuing operafions atiiibutable

to Comfort Systems USA
per

diluted shore 0.15 043 0.90

Backlog $633218 $617898 $550248

Earnings befoie interest taxes

depreciafion
and amorlizafion $29368 $42693 $69959

Free cash flow2 $21731 $33497 $45564

is supplemental mformatior from car flnmng operaflo is except
for bee cash flow and excludes noncosh guodwd and other rrtangrhle asset

mparnrts Lhaiges tar value
otwrpont eorrr-xut ohhgotiuns and

trio
oeiootin afowances This n1omotreo piesented becaose iespunsiue

to freqoent questiors we receive about the
Company

fun third
parties However these oeasores are not corrodered

prmary meosores of an or titys

nannal resolts under generally acceped accourrting principles DAAP and accordingly should not be considered as on alternative to sinrinlar measures as

leterm nod under lTMP and as reported by tire

Company Reconciliatians between this sapplenrental rrformatinn and the
Companys

results as reported

nder GAItP can be found under Item Managemenfs
Discussion ann Ace ysis

of Financial Condition and Results of
Operotiorrs

of the ompeoys Annua

Report on Form OK included Irerein and
in

the ompanys Report air
Fornn 8K bled with the Secorties and

Exchange
Coormission

Febmary 29 2012

We ilobne free irOn flow FEE as cnrsh flow from
operating activities excluding items elated to sales of husinesse less

ustomary cap
tal

expend tores

plus proceeds
hon asset sales FCF

may
Ire dehned

difforenfly by
other

comparnres
FEE

presenrted because it is
frraicial measore frequendy requested

by
third

parties
lfuweoer FCF

riot
nonsdered to be

primary nmneosore of an emntitys
hnrancio resolts under DM8 Accoif ngly FEE should not be cons dered

is on alteroatve to income froon
operations net income or cosh flows us determined under IMP and as reported by

tire

Company Are oncilirrtiorn

between FEE aid the
Companys

caslr flows as determined under OMP con be found ormder terr Managements Discussion and Analysis
of Founcial

Conmdmtiomm and Resolts of
Operations

of tire

Companys
Anooal

Report on Form OK
mr

laded heroin



iai rIo

otnfot systems is committed to pros iding cleat and oniprehcnsive tnlormanon ah ut

out finanual pcrfotraa icc Ou 2011 knnual Report includes thc compicee Krti 10 which

is the rc port that all puHicl\ Isald
smpantes are tequired to 11k rnu ll wtth the

Securiri and Lxchaioe inmission SF0
he informal ion nt uncd in the Lot 10-K is sep ted into Pat htch ate Oct

scpatatcd into Items Out Form has ur parts

In-depth desc
rtpm ions of our bustm iess and indusm stratcg compettn employees omllpao

risk tactors md ptopet tiu

Managemnent discussion of our results operations and financial condition our financial

statements notes ito1 supplenmentary data

Sdm cim storm of ur Ic let hmcs and direr imons for those who svish to oFt in further inform mmton

Certain xccuris and dimcc tors unarur and list of exhmhets



Corporate Information

Corporate Officers Board of Directors Advisory Directors

Brian Lane William Murdy Tim Albers

President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board President

Comfort Systems USA Inc Quality
Air

Heating
and

Cooling
Inc

William George Ill

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Brian Lane Vincent Matlock

President and Chief Executive Officer President

Thomas Tanner
Comfort Systems USA Inc S.M Lawrence Co Inc

Senior Vice President
Region

Franklin Myers Auditors
Dean Tillison

Lead Director

Senior Vice President
Region Comfort

Systems USA Inc Ernst Young LIP

Charles Diltz
0aftogMor llousIoi Texas

Paine and Poilners

Senior Vice President
Region
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Julie Shaeff

Darcy Anderson
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American Stock Transfer Trust Company LIC

Senior Vice President and Chief
Accounting

Officer Id 6201 15th Avenue

Brewster Earle
Brooklyir New York 11219

Herman Bulls

Senior Vice President
Energy
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LaSolle Incorporated

Vice President Audit and Controls
President and Chief Executive Officer

NYSE Symbol FIX

Bulls
Advisory Group

LLC
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Vice President and General Counsel

Fred Giardinelli

President
Thursday May 11 2012 at 1000 am

Jon-Paul Weiss Eastern
Heating Cooling Inc

Hilton Houston Post Oak

Vice President Tax and
Treasury

2001 Post Oak Blwi

Alan Krusi Houston Texas 71056

Sherlyn Huff ord
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James Schultz
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Houston Texas 77057 Robert Wagner Jr

713 830-9600 Phone Principal
and Advisory Director
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Web Site

www.comfortsystemsusa.com

Additional copies
of this Annual Report incorporating

the Companys Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission are available without charge through the Companys Corporate

Office The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Snrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K for

the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2011 We have also filed with the New York Stock Exchange the most recent Annual CEO Certification as required by Section 303A.12a of the New York Stock

Exchange Listed Company Manual
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